
 

Regular Meeting of Council Agenda September 15, 2025 
 

Regular Meeting of the City of Castlegar Council held in Council Chambers at the Community Forum,  
445 13th Avenue, Castlegar, B.C., and via Zoom live meeting, commencing at 3:00 p.m. for  
Committee of the Whole Meeting, immediately followed by a Closed Council Meeting  

and reconvening at 7:00 p.m. for Regular Council Meeting. 
 
 

Please click the link below to join the webinar for Committee of the Whole: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81537391928?pwd=ZpfUEPd3ETadsVvNDRH9ds8b2lB8ar.1 
or telephone: Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

Canada: 1-438-809-7799, 1-587-328-1099, 1-647-374-4685, 1-647-558-0588, 
1-778-907-2071, 1-780-666-0144 

Webinar ID: 815 3739 1928 Passcode: 707182 
International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcaO5W0hcf  

 
Please click the link below to join the webinar for the Regular Council Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82308886136?pwd=WTLZWbRCR5BQBhcQ9cAbGcSydCaIqR.1  
or Telephone: Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

Canada: 1-780-666-0144, 1-204-272-7920, 1-438-809-7799, 
1-587-328-1099, 1-647-374-4685 

Webinar ID: 823 0888 6136 Passcode: 634712 
International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kb1SZ1ZRbv  

 
 
1 CALL TO ORDER (3:00 P.M.) 
 
2 ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 
3 RESOLUTION TO RESOLVE INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
 
4 DELEGATION: 
 

(a) Patrick Audet and Mike Misuraca on behalf of the Kootenay Rockies Disc Golf Society, to provide 
Council with an update regarding the Open House/Town Hall Meeting, which was held on Tuesday, 
August 26, 2025.  

 
5 COMMUNITY WELLNESS, SAFETY & DEVELOPMENT (CHAIR BELL / DEPUTY BOJECHKO / DEPUTY 

HEATON-SHERSTOBITOFF): 
 

(a) COUNCIL COMMITTEE LIAISON VERBAL UPDATE 
 

(b)       FIRE DEPARTMENT VERBAL UPDATE  
 

(c) Emergency Services Monthly Report – August 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve to receive for information: 
• Emergency Services Monthly Report – August 2025 

 
(d) RCMP DETACHMENT VERBAL UPDATE  

 
(e) WEST KOOTENAY REGIONAL AIRPORT VERBAL UPDATE 

 
(f) COMMUNITY SAFETY AND DEVELOPMENT VERBAL UPDATE.  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81537391928?pwd=ZpfUEPd3ETadsVvNDRH9ds8b2lB8ar.1
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcaO5W0hcf
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82308886136?pwd=WTLZWbRCR5BQBhcQ9cAbGcSydCaIqR.1
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kb1SZ1ZRbv
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(g) Building Permit and Business Licence Reports – August 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve to receive for information:  
• Building Permit Report – August 2025 
• Business Licence Report – August 2025 

 
6 CULTURAL & CIVIC PRIDE (CHAIR HEATON-SHERSTOBITOFF / DEPUTY BOGLE / DEPUTY MACLEOD): 
 

(a) COUNCIL COMMITTEE LIAISON VERBAL UPDATE 
 
7 FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES (CHAIR BOGLE / DEPUTY FALSTEAD): 
 

(a) FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES COMMUNITY LIAISON VERBAL UPDATE 
 

(b) CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT VERBAL UPDATE.  
 

(c)  Appointment of Municipal Insurance Association of BC Voting Delegate and Alternate   
 2025 (Report No. 25-71) 

 
Report from the Executive Assistant to seek Council’s appointment of a voting delegate    
and alternate voting delegate to represent the City of Castlegar’s interests at the   
Municipal Insurance Association of BC Annual General Meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve: 
 
THAT Council appoint ___________as the City of Castlegar voting delegate and __________as the 
alternate voting delegate for the Municipal Insurance Association of BC Annual General Meeting to 
be held during the UBCM Convention on September 23, 2025. 
 

(d) FINANCE DEPARTMENT VERBAL UPDATE. 
 

(e) 2024 Statement of Financial Information (Report No. 25-67)  
 

Report from the Director of Finance & Technology to seek Council’s approval of the 2024 Statement 
of Financial Information (SOFI).  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve:  
 
THAT Council approve the 2024 Statement of Financial Information for submission to the Ministry 
of Municipal Affairs,  
 
AND FURTHER;  
 
THAT the Mayor and Director of Finance & Technology be authorized to sign the Statement of 
Financial Information Approval Form.  

 
(f)  2024 Annual Report (Report No. 25-72) 

 
Report from the Director of Finance & Technology to obtain Council’s comments on the draft Annual 
Report and approval to release the draft 2024 Annual Report to the public and set a meeting date for 
public comments.   
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RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve:  
 
THAT Council approve the release of the draft 2024 Annual Report to the public, including the 2024 
Audited Financial Statements, for the year ended December 31, 2024,  
 
AND FURTHER;  
 
THAT the Annual Meeting, as required by the Community Charter, be set for the October 6, 2025, 
Regular Council Meeting starting at 7:00 p.m.  

 
(g) IT DEPARTMENT VERBAL UPDATE. 

 
8 MUNICIPAL SERVICES (CHAIR MACLEOD / DEPUTY BELL): 
 

(a) MUNICIPAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT VERBAL UPDATE. 
 

9 QUESTION PERIOD: 
 
10 RESOLUTION TO RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 
 

Council consider and resolve to rise from the Committee of the Whole. 
 
11 RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE PUBLIC, RECESS THE PUBLIC MEETING UNTIL 7:00 P.M., AND IMMEDIATELY 

CONVENE INTO CLOSED SESSION: 
 

RESOLUTION: 
 
THAT pursuant to Section 90 of the Community Charter, the public be excluded from this portion of the 
meeting as the subject matter being considered relates to the following: 

• Community Charter Section 90(1)(L) 
Discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting municipal objectives, measures 
and progress reports for the purposes of preparing an annual report under section 98 [annual 
municipal report].  

 
AND FURTHER; 
 
THAT the public portion of the meeting be recessed until 7:00 p.m., 
 
AND FURTHER; 
 
THAT Council immediately resolve into the closed portion of their meeting. 

 
12 RECONVENE (7:00 P.M.) MAYOR TO RECONVENE AT THE REGULAR MEETING AT 7:00 P.M. 
 
13 DELEGATION: Nil 
 
14 COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES FOR APPROVAL: 

RESOLUTION: THAT the following Minutes be adopted: 
(a) Regular Meeting Minutes – September 2, 2025 
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15 RESOLUTION TO ADOPT COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

(a) Recommendations from the September 2, 2025, Committee of the Whole meeting to be considered 
for adoption (Motions to be considered individually). Full discussions, and reports on these 
recommendations can be viewed on the City’s website during the September 2, 2025 Committee of 
the Whole Meeting. 

1. THAT the following items considered and received for information at the September 2, 2025, 
Committee of the Whole meeting, be adopted: 

• Emergency Services Monthly Report – July 2025 
• Building Permit Report – July 2025 
• Business Licence Report -July 2025 

 
2. THAT the January – June 2025 Supplier List be received for information.  

 
(b) Committee of the Whole recommendations from the September 15, 2025, meeting for adoption 

(Motions to be brought forward from the Committee of the Whole portion of the meeting to be 
considered individually). Full discussions, and reports on these recommendations can be viewed on 
the City’s website during the September 15, 2025 Committee of the Whole Meeting. 

 
16 REGIONAL DISTRICT OF CENTRAL KOOTENAY (RDCK) MEETING MINUTES: Nil 
 
17 CORRESPONDENCE: 

(a) Arijana Cajic on behalf of the Cerebral Palsy Association of British Columbia re: request to change the 
Kinnaird Overpass lights to green on October 6, 2025, in recognition of World Cerebral Palsy Day.  
 

18 REPORTS OTHER: 
 
(a) Recreation Commission Member Verbal Update  

 
19 MAYOR’S REPORT: 
 
20 NEW & UNFINISHED BUSINESS: Nil 
 
21 NEXT MEETING(S): 

October 6, 2025, at 3:00 p.m. for Committee of the Whole Meeting followed by the Regular Council Meeting 
at 7:00 p.m., held in Council Chambers at the Community Forum, 445 13th Avenue, Castlegar, B.C. and via 
Zoom live meeting. 

 
22 NOTICE OF MOTION: Nil 
 
23 QUESTION PERIOD: 
 
24 ADJOURNMENT: 
 

25 2023-2027 STRATEGIC PLAN INFORMATION PAGE  
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EMERGENCY SERVICES REPORT Page 1 of 2

August 2025 

City of Castlegar / Fire Department     castlegar.ca

This report has been prepared for the September 15, 2025 meeting to council, 
file number 7300-25. 

Fire Department Operations: 
The chart below compares the previous year 2024 to current year 2025. 

Incident 2025 2024 

August 2025 Year to Date 
August
2024 

Year to 
Date 

 Fires 4 21 8 41 

Rescue (EMCR* Task) 0 14 2 17 

Rescue (BCAS Assist) 40 259 20 143 

Aircraft 0 0 0 0 

Motor Vehicle Accident/Incident 1 26 9 33 

Hazardous Materials 2 14 1 10 

First Responder Medical 1 20 7 59 

False Alarms 8 62 5 38 

Standby 7 102 20 80 

Public Service 4 22 7 35 

Complaints 15 97 9 40 

Other 5 37 10 87 

Monthly Totals 87 684 98 583 

Service Charge (False/Nuisance) 0 0 0 2 

Burning permits 0 1 0 4 

Reportable Fires (OFC) 3 8 4 10 

Fire Damage Dollar Loss $10,000 $365,100 $1,515,100 

Fire Dollar Amount Saved $64,191,000 $178,382,000 $0 $0 

Fire Injuries 0 0 0 1 
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City of Castlegar / Fire Department castlegar.ca 

 

TRAINING: 
 

1. Ladder 1 and Rescue Practice 
2. Discussed Wildfire Calls  
3. Convert Rescue to ETV 
4. Hose Lays  
5. Structure Fire Review CFD# 25-650 
6. Monthly Safety and Officers Meeting 
7. Monthly Apparatus Checks 

 
Other: 
 

1. Blueberry Creek School Hall Tour 
2. Completed 4 Fire Smart Assessments 

 
 
 

 
 
Prepared by 
 
 
 
Nick Ahlefeld 
Acting Fire Chief  
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Building Permit Report Page 1 of 3

August 2025 

City of Castlegar  /  Planning & Development castlegar.ca 

This report has been prepared for the September 15, 2025 meeting to council, 
file number 3800-01. 

Value of Work & Permits 
The below chart compares the previous year 2024 to current year values in 2025. 

2025 2024 

Value of Work 
Permits 
Issued 

Value of Work 
Permits 
Issued 

Residential, New Single/Duplex 

Residential, New Multi-Family 

Residential, New Garages/Carports 

Residential, Alterations & Additions $245,300.00 4 $4,800.00 2 

Secondary Suites 

Commercial, New 

Commercial, Alterations & Additions $515,000.00 2 

Industrial, New 

Industrial, Alterations & Additions $150,000.00 1 

Institutional/Gov't, New 

Institutional/Gov't, Alterations 
& Additions 

Demolition $25,000.00 2 

Monthly Totals $420,300.00 7 $591,800.00 4 

Year-to-Date Totals $26,682,340.00 72 $14,790,760.00 93 
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City of Castlegar  /  Planning & Development castlegar.ca 

Major Projects Started August 2025 
1921 Arrow Lakes Drive Retaining Wall 614 12th Street, Interior Renovation 

PART A. ONGOING MAJOR PROJECTS 

Single Family Dwelling 

 1564 Woodland Drive 

 3937 Grandview Drive  

 902 Merry Creek 

 3701 Powell Road  

 1509 Aspen Lane  

 

 1537 Grandview Drive  

 2421 11th Avenue 

 3728 Toba Road  

 3704 Toba Road  

 508 3rd Avenue  

 3736 Toba Road 

 1513 Aspen Lane 

 2108 8th Avenue 

 2632 9th Avenue  

 

 

Renovation  

 330 Columbia Avenue 

 2232 Columbia Avenue  

 4190 Minto Road  

 2112 10th Avenue  

 3429 8th Avenue  

 3937 Grandview Drive  

 3405 3rd Avenue 

 1217 1st Street  

 2185 Crestview Crescent  

 1680 Woodland Drive  

 4400 Minto Road  

 507 8th Avenue  

 1127 4th Street  

 630 17th Street 

 602 18th Street  

 2171 Crestview Crescent  

 1801 Connors Road  

 1840 8th Avenue  

 316 8th Avenue 

 309 3rd Avenue  

 1007 2nd Street  

 1448 Selkirk Avenue  

 209 5th Avenue  

 1408 Meadowbrook Drive 

 3388 Southridge Drive  

 2001 Columbia Avenue  

 831 7th Avenue  

 608 7th Avenue  

 12-1502 Columbia Avenue 

 614 12th Street 

 

Miscellaneous  

 704 Center Avenue, Addition   

 4690 14th Avenue, New Industrial Building  

 1921 Arrow Lakes Drive, Racking System 

 2225 Columbia Avenue, Multi Unit  

 2237 10th Avenue, Covered Patio  

 2704 5th Avenue, Garage  

 2133 Columbia Avenue, Retail Space  

 522 105th Street, Garage  

 1680 Columbia Avenue, Restaurant  

 174 Crescent Street, Multi Family  

 1013 2nd Street, Foundation  

 215 Orchard Avenue, Office Building 

 1114 4th Street, Mixed Use Building 
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Building Permit Report Page 3 of 3

City of Castlegar  /  Planning & Development castlegar.ca 

PART B. NUMBER OF STEP CODE BUILDINGS 

Monthly Yearly YTD Completed Step Code Compliance 

1 2 3 4 5 

Single/Multi Family 
Dwellings 

6 4 3 

Renovations 

Commercial Buildings 

Industrial Buildings 

Step Code Building Totals 6 

PART B. COMPLETED IN AUGUST  2025 

814 7th Avenue, Single Family Dwelling – Step 3  

205 102nd Street, Single Family Dwelling – Step 3 

811 2nd Street, Single Family Dwelling – Step 4  

651 18th Street, Renovation   
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Business Licence Report Page 1 of 1 
August 2025 

 

City of Castlegar  /  Planning & Development castlegar.ca 

This report has been prepared for the September 15, 2025 meeting to council, 
file number 4320-20. 

Monthly & Year-to-Date Totals 
The below chart shows the newest ICBL and Business licences and the year-to-date totals. 

 2025 2024 

 
Fees 

Received 
Qty 

Issued 
Fees 

Received 
Qty 

Issued 

New Business Licences $425.00 6 $1,550.00 10 

New ICBL Licences     

ICBL Licence Year-to-Date Totals $8,000.00 80 $8,100.00 81 

All Licence Monthly Total $1,875.00 12 $3,650.00 18 

All Licence Year-to-Date Totals $116,696.26 669 $121,958.74 740 

New Licences 
BL #3293 BCCS Castlegar Primary After 

School Care 

749 7th Avenue  

Castlegar, BC  V1N 4E1 

Childcare  
 

BL #3294 Property Guys West Kootenay  

142-1402 Columbia Avenue  

Castlegar, BC  V1N 3K3 

Real Estate Marketing  

BL #3295 Rogers Communications Canada 

Toronto, BC  M4W 1G9  

Door to Door Sales  
 

BL #3296 PWT Transit Canada  

8170 Old Waneta Road  

Trail, BC  V1R 4W9  

Transit Service  

BL #3298 The Roc Doc Ventures Ltd 

West Kelowna, BC  

Demolition Contractor  

BL #3299 Proper Home Energy Inc  

Robson, BC  

Energy Advisor  

  

 



 
       

REPORT TO COUNCIL  
 
MEETING DATE: September 15, 2025 REPORT NO.: 25-71 
 
SUBMITTED BY: Executive Assistant FILE NO.: 0230-20 
  
SUBJECT:  Appointment of Municipal Insurance Association of BC Voting 

Delegate and Alternate 2025 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
THAT Council appoint                    as the City of Castlegar voting delegate and               as 
the alternate voting delegate for the Municipal Insurance Association of BC Annual 
General Meeting to be held during the UBCM Convention on September 23, 2025. 
 
 
PURPOSE: 
To appoint a voting delegate and alternate voting delegate to represent the City of Castlegar’s 
interests at the Municipal Insurance Association of BC Annual General Meeting on September 
23, 2025, during the 2025 Union of BC Municipalities Convention.  
 
This Report is for consideration at the September 15, 2025, Committee of the Whole Meeting 
and adoption at the September 15, 2025, Regular Council Meeting in order to provide the 
Municipal Insurance Association of BC with the appointments contact information as soon as 
possible. 
 
SUMMARY/BACKGROUND: 
The Municipal Insurance Association of BC (MIABC) Annual General Meeting (AGM) is 
scheduled for Tuesday, September 23, 2025, during the 2025 Union of BC Municipalities 
(UBCM) Convention in Victoria, BC. 
 
MIABC AGM booklets and voting information will be provided to the voting delegate(s) prior to 
UBCM. In addition, MIABC will host a voting member orientation from 3:00 p.m. to 3:30 p.m. 
prior to the AGM scheduled for 3:30 p.m.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Council could choose not to appoint a voting delegate and an alternate. Staff does not 
recommend this as a voting delegate and alternate provide the opportunity to represent the 
City’s interest at the annual AGM. 
 
IMPLICATIONS: 
(1) Social  N/A 

(2) Environmental N/A 

(3) Personnel Less than 1 hour staff time was spent preparing this report. 



Report re: Appointment of Municipal Insurance Association of BC Voting Delegate and 
Alternate 2025 

Page 2 of 2 

 
(4) Financial The 2025 AGM is held as part of the UBCM annual convention. 

There is no additional cost above the UBCM registration fee for 
members of Council to attend this AGM. 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
IMPLEMENTATION: 
Once appointments are made by Council, staff will provide MIABC with a copy of the resolution 
and contact information for the City’s voting delegate and alternate. 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
N/A 
 
Respectfully submitted, Approved by 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer Chamberlain 
Executive Assistant 

 

 
 
Chris Barlow, A.Sc.T. 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 



 
       

REPORT TO COUNCIL  
 
MEETING DATE: September 15, 2025 REPORT NO.: 25-67  
  
SUBMITTED BY: Director of Finance & Technology  FILE NO.: 1870-30  
  
SUBJECT:  2024 Statement of Financial Information 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
THAT Council approve the 2024 Statement of Financial Information for submission to 
the Ministry of Municipal Affairs, 
 
AND FURTHER; 
 
THAT the Mayor and Director of Finance & Technology be authorized to sign the 
Statement of Financial Information Approval form. 
 
 
PURPOSE: 
Report to seek Council’s approval of the 2024 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) prior 
to submission to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and to make the document available for public 
inspection.  
 
This report is for consideration at the September 15, 2025 Committee of the Whole Meeting, 
and adoption at the September 15, 2025 Regular Council Meeting. 
 
SUMMARY/BACKGROUND: 
The SOFI is an annual requirement under the Financial Information Act (FIA) to be submitted 
to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and made available to the public no later than June 30, 
2025. The SOFI includes: 
 

• Audited Financial Statements 
• Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements  
• Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses  
• Statement of Severance Agreements  
• Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services  

 
The SOFI schedules differ from financial statements primarily because they are based on 
when payments are made (i.e. cash basis). The 2024 SOFI report will be submitted late due 
to key staff absences. The delay and cause have been communicated to the Province of BC 
and they are anticipating the City’s report as soon as approved. 
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ALTERNATIVES: 
Council could choose not to approve the SOFI. Staff does not recommend this alternative as 
it would further the delay of the already missed submission deadline to the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs. 
 
IMPLICATIONS: 
(1) Social  N/A 

(2) Environmental N/A 

(3) Personnel N/A 

(4) Financial N/A 
  

POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
This supports the 2024-2028 Strategic Plan principle of Governance and Service Excellence 
and the goal of Responsible Stewards.  
 
The SOFI is required to be prepared annually under the FIA. 
 
IMPLEMENTATION: 
The 2024 SOFI will be submitted to the Ministry once approved by Council.  
 
COMMUNICATION: 
Once adopted the 2024 SOFI will be posted on the City’s website for public inspection on the 
City’s website and will be included in the Council Highlights.  
 
Respectfully submitted, Approved by 
 

 
Steffan Klassen, CPA CA 
Director of Finance & Technology 
  

 

 
 
Chris Barlow, A.Sc.T. 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
 



 

 
CITY OF CASTLEGAR 

2024 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

 

• 2024 Financial Statements 

• Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements 

• Schedule of Elected Official Remunerations 

• Schedule of Employee Remuneration 

• Schedule of Severance Agreements 

• Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services 

• Reconciliation of Payments to Financial Statements 

• Schedule of Financial Information Approval 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

 

 

 

To the Mayor and Council of  
City of Castlegar 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of City of Castlegar (the “City”), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the statements of operations, change in net financial 
assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of City of Castlegar as at December 31, 2024, and its results of operations, its changes in its 
net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other Matters   

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a 
whole. Schedules 1 – 3 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of 
the financial statements. Such supplemental information has not been subject to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Castlegar, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
August 25, 2025 





CITY OF CASTLEGAR

Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Budget Actual Actual

2024 2024 2023

note 19

REVENUES

Taxation, note 10 $ 12,600,207     $ 12,890,855     $ 12,083,707    

Government transfers, note 16 8,775,444       3,250,477       6,730,802      

Fees and service charges, note 10 5,477,774       7,044,300       6,377,075      

Community works funding 585,000          443,073          429,851         

Developer contributions -                     2,094,807       166,195         

Other revenue 1,307,800       1,383,464       1,128,229      

Gain on sale of tangible capital assets -                     64,634            4,710             

Interest and other investment income 130,760          1,229,975       1,230,552      

28,876,985     28,401,585     28,151,121    

EXPENSES, note 15

General government 3,990,538       3,860,525       3,578,291      

Environmental development 1,042,151       674,852          831,207         

Transportation and civic works 3,812,763       4,085,150       3,501,218      

Waste disposal and recycling 1,293,547       1,170,033       1,280,045      

Protection 3,558,867       4,467,776       3,620,517      

Public health and welfare 230,810          179,795          308,462         

Recreation and culture 1,725,461       1,871,201       1,502,049      

Water system 1,593,471       1,431,719       1,350,242      

Sewer system 1,439,067       1,383,152       1,486,466      

Storm system 193,132          196,728          113,476         

Airport 1,599,918       1,670,707       1,579,082      

Interest on long term debt and agreements payable 3,000              604,981          530,077         

Amortization 3,862,000       4,521,652       4,414,957      

Accretion, note 21 -                     -                     56,892           

24,344,725     26,118,271     24,152,981    

Annual surplus 4,532,260       2,283,314       3,998,140      

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 90,136,109     90,136,109     86,137,969    

Accumulated surplus, end of year, note 9 $ 94,668,369     $ 92,419,423     $ 90,136,109    

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part to

 these financial statements



CITY OF CASTLEGAR

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Budget Actual Actual

2024 2024 2023

note 19

Annual surplus $ 4,532,260       $ 2,283,314        $ 3,998,140     

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (19,090,042)    (12,956,409)    (2,570,252)    

Work in progress, construction of tangible capital assets -                      1,892,933        (1,669,534)    

Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,862,000       4,521,652        4,414,957     

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets -                      234,514           10,369          

(Gain) on disposition of tangible capital assets -                      (64,634)           (4,710)           

Change in prepaid expense -                      (69,215)           (78,844)         

Increase (Decrease) in Net Financial Assets (10,695,782)    (4,157,845)      4,100,126     

Net Financial Assets, beginning of year 6,517,539       6,517,539        2,417,413     

Net Financial Assets, end of year $ (4,178,243)      $ 2,359,694        $ 6,517,539     

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part to

 these financial statements



CITY OF CASTLEGAR

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Cash provided by (used for) :

Operating Activities

$ 2,283,314       $ 3,998,140     

4,521,652       4,414,957     

(64,634)           (4,710)           

Annual surplus

Change in non cash items:

Amortization

Gain on disposition of tangible capital assets 
Increase in pre-paid expenses (69,215)           (78,844)         

Change in financial assets and liabilities:

(2,203,343)      (2,404,982)    

1,458,949       (1,178,804)    

156,389          524,239        

246,743          169,720        

Increase in taxes and accounts receivable 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Increase in deferred revenue

Increase in holdbacks, refundable and other deposits Increase 

Increase in asset retirement obligations - 56,892

6,329,855       5,496,608     

Investing Activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets and work in progress (11,063,476)    (4,239,786)    

Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 234,514          10,369          

(10,828,962)    (4,229,417)    

Financing activities

Proceeds from temporary borrowing 5,000,000       -

Repayment of temporary borrowing (5,000,000)      -

Proceeds from long-term borrowing 1,000,000       -

Repayment of long-term borrowing (210,674)         (205,139)       

Proceeds from equipment financing 3,054,018       -

Repayment of equipment financing (77,986)           -

3,765,358       (205,139)       

(Decrease) increase in cash (733,749)         1,062,052     

Cash and investment deposits, beginning of year 22,119,192     21,057,140   

Cash and investment deposits, end of year $ 21,385,443     $ 22,119,192   

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part to

 these financial statements



CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Nature of Operations

Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies of the City:

a) Basis of Presentation

b) Investment deposits are recorded at cost.

c) Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost, determined on a first in, first out basis, or replacement cost.

d) Tangible capital assets

Asset Rate

Buildings 10 - 70 years

Roads and road features 15 - 50 years

Water 10 - 60 years

Storm sewers 40 - 50 years

Parks and recreation 5 - 25 years

Traffic control and lighting including airport hazard beacons 15 years

Vehicles and equipment 6 - 25 years

Sanitary sewers 5 - 50 years

Fibre optics cable 20 years

Furniture and office equipment 10 years

Technology and computer equipment 5 - 10 years

Other 5 - 40 years

e) Use of Estimates

The Corporation of the City of Castlegar (the “City”) is incorporated by Letters Patent under the laws of British Columbia and its principal 
activities include the provision of local government services to residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, 
infrastructure, environmental, planning, building, recreational, waterworks, sanitary sewer and storm services.

The financial statements of the City of Castlegar are the responsibility of, and prepared by, management in accordance with Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS).  The financial statements include the result of operations for all functions.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimated amounts. Significant areas 

requiring the use of management estimates include the determination of the estimated useful life of tangible capital assets, asset retirement 

obligations, and accrued liabilities included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense. Betterments which extend the estimated life of an asset and enhance the service 

potential of capital assets are capitalized.

When a tangible capital asset no longer contributes to the City's ability to provide services, its carrying amount is written down to its residual 
value with no reversals of such write downs in subsequent periods. 

The City holds and maintains a collection of nineteen sculptures as works of art. Works of art, artifacts, cultural and historical assets are not 
recorded as assets in the financial statements.

Purchased or constructed tangible capital assets are recorded at cost in the period they are put into use. The cost of a tangible capital asset 

includes the purchase price and other acquisition costs such as installation costs, design and engineering fees, legal fees, survey costs, site 

preparation costs, freight charges, transportation, insurance costs, and duties. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value 

at the date of the contribution. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:



CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f) Financial Instruments

g) Expenses

h) Budget Figures

i) Basis of Accounting

j) Revenue recognition

k) Government transfers

l) Contaminated sites

Transaction costs related to financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are added to the carrying value of the financial 
instrument.  Transaction costs related to financial instruments recorded at their fair values are expensed as incurred. 

Financial liabilities (or part of a financial liability) are removed from the statement of financial position when, and only when, they are 
discharged, cancelled or expire.

Management has assessed its potential liabilities including, sites that are no longer in productive use and sites which the City accepts 
responsibility. There are no such sites that had contamination in excess of an environmental standard which required remediation at this 

time, therefore no liability was recognized as at December 31, 2024.

Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal 

obligation to pay.

The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

Unrestricted grants and contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be 

reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.  

Restricted grants or contributions received under funding agreements which relate to a subsequent period are recognized as revenue in the 

period in which the resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified. Funding received before this criterion has been met, is 

reported as deferred revenue on the statement of financial position until the period in which the specified purpose or related expense is 

incurred.

Taxation revenue is recognized as revenue in the year it is levied.  Fees and service charges and other revenue are recognized when the 

services are rendered.

Community works funding is recognized when received or receivable.

Interest and other investment income is recorded on the accrual basis and recognized when earned.

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which events giving rise to 
the transfers occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amount can 
be made.

Accrued liabilities for the costs to remediate a contaminated site are recognized when an environmental standard exists, contamination 
exceeds the standard, the City has responsibility for remediation, future economic benefits will be given up and a reasonable estimate can 
be made.

All financial instruments are recorded at their cost or amortized cost except for portfolio investments in equity instruments quoted in an active 

market and derivatives which are recorded at their fair value with unrealized remeasurement gains and losses recorded in the statement of 
remeasurement gains and losses (if applicable).  Once realized, remeasurement gains and losses are transferred to the statement of 
operations. Changes in the fair value on restricted assets are recognized as a liability until the criterion attached to the restrictions has been 
met, upon which the gain or loss is recognized in the statement of operations.

The budget figures are from the Annual Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw adopted by May 15 of each year.  Subsequent amendments to the 

Five Year Financial Plan may have been made by Council to reflect budgetary changes as required by Council.

The City's financial instruments consist of cash and investment deposits; taxes and accounts receivable; accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities; holdbacks, refundable, and other deposits; long term debt; and asset retirement obligations. 

Transactions where goods or services are provided for consideration include performance obligations to a specific payor. Revenue from 

these transactions is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied. Transactions without performance obligations are recognized 
when the revenue is received or receivable. 



CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

m) Asset Retirement Obligation

1 Cash and Investment Deposits

2 Taxes and Accounts Receivable

2024 2023

Taxes, current $ 441,418           $ 668,764           

Taxes, arrears 224,885           168,829           

Province of British Columbia (7,583)              (7,271)              

Federal Government 263,374           166,273           

Other Receivables 6,112,660        3,834,816        

$ 7,034,754        $ 4,831,411        

3 Deposit and Reserve - Municipal Finance Authority

2024 2023

Demand notes $ 69,387             $ 69,387             

Cash deposits 41,515             41,515             

$ 110,902           $ 110,902           

4 Contingencies

Regional District of Central Kootenay Debt

Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act  and the Community Charter , a 

direct joint and severable liability of the District and each City within the District, including the City of Castlegar.

Claims for Damages

Certain claims, suits, and complaints arising in the ordinary course of operations have been filed or are pending against

the City of Castlegar. The City cannot predict, with any certainty, the outcome of such litigation. Management is of the opinion,
based upon information presently available, that it is unlikely that any liability, to the extent not provided through insurance
or otherwise, would be material in relation to the City's financial position.

A liability is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date:
(a)     there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset;
(b)     the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred;
(c)     it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
(d)     a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The liability for the removal of asbestos and other hazardous material in several of the buildings owned by the City has been initially 
recognized using the modified retroactive method.  The liability has been measured using a discount rate equal to MFA's long term lending 
rate.  The resulting costs have been capitalized into the carrying amount of tangible capital assets and are being amortized on the same 
basis as the related tangible capital asset. Assumptions used in the calculations are reviewed annually.

Cash and investment deposits are held in Canadian Chartered Bank current bank accounts earning interest at a rate of prime minus 1.75% 
and in a short-term Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) money market fund. Included in cash and investment deposits is $2,771,883 (2023 - 
$2,199,752) held for statutory reserves.

The City issues its debt instruments through the MFA.  As a condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds are 

withheld by the MFA as a debt reserve fund.  The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the City 

may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA.  The details of the cash deposits and demand notes at year end are as follows:

The Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation (CDIC) insures each of the Canadian Chartered Bank current accounts up to $100,000. The 

aggregate funds held in one account may exceed the CDIC insured limit from time to time and funds held by the institution may not be 

covered by CDIC insurance. The MFA money market funds are not insured. Management does not anticipate any material effect on the 

financial position of the City as a result of this concentration.



CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

5 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2024 2023

Province of British Columbia $ 63,094             $ 28,841             
Regional and other levels of government 31,880             210,636           
Other payables 3,506,152        1,971,700        
Wages, vacation, sick and banked liabilities 1,057,160        988,160           

$ 4,658,286        $ 3,199,337        

6 Deferred Revenue

a)

2024 2023

Development cost charges, note 11 $ 2,160,618        $ 2,117,108        
Prepaid taxes 1,004,183        1,020,081        
Prepaid utility rates 78,884             47,273             

Other 153,474           56,308             

$ 3,397,159        $ 3,240,770        

b) Restricted flows

In "Other" Deferred Revenue is certain government transfers with certain restrictions that have not been realized in fiscal 2024. 

Deferred Revenues will be recognized in the year that the approved project is undertaken. The following provides a summary

of funds received that are included in "Other" Deferred Revenue on the Statement of Financial Position.

FireSmart 

Community

Next 

Generation 911

Local 

Government 

Housing 

Initiative

Various small 

grants

December 31, 2023 $ 26,126            $ 22,500             $ -                       $ 7,682               
Externally restricted inflows -                      -                       189,154           4,800               
Revenue earned (26,126)           -                       (67,952)            (2,710)              

December 31, 2024 $ -                      $ 22,500             $ 121,202           $ 9,772               

7 Equipment Financing Loans, Long-Term Debt and Temporary Borrowing

a) Equipment Financing Loans

2024 2023

Monthly installments of $2,769, maturing in 2029 $ 133,984           $ -                       

Monthly installments of $2,621, maturing in 2029 134,782           -                       
Monthly installments of $8,936, maturing in 2029 460,625           -                       
Monthly installments of $11,952, maturing in 2029 645,018           -                       
Monthly installments of $11,453, maturing in 2029 1,601,623        -                       

$ 2,976,032        $ -                       

Equipment financing loans are demand loans payable to the MFA in monthly installments with an interest rate based on the Canadian 

Dealer Offered Rate, which at December 31, 2024 was 4.05%. They are repayable in blended monthly principal and interest payments and 
are approved under section 175 of the Community Charter. The following equipment loans are outstanding:



CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

7 Equipment Financing Loans, Long-Term Debt and Temporary Borrowing (continued)

b) Long-Term Debt and Temporary Borrowing

2024 2023

$ 6,200,000        6,200,000        

702,089           735,694           

767,720           799,553           

2,619,791        2,714,449

1,451,578        1,502,156        

1,000,000        -                       

$ 12,741,178      $ 11,951,852      

c) Future Payments

Principal

2025 $ 570,640           
2026 6,831,582        

2027 650,345           

2028 669,537           
2029 1,755,829        
Thereafter and actuarial 5,239,277        

$ 15,717,210      

Temporary borrowing repayable to MFA, matures in the year 2026

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $41,790 in April 
(principal & interest) and $9,648 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 

the year 2041 and annual interest payable is $19,297

The City issues debt instruments through the MFA, pursuant to loan security issuing bylaws under the authority of section 179 of the Local 
Government Act, to finance certain capital expenditures. Debenture debt principal is disclosed net of sinking fund balances managed by the 
MFA. Interest on long-term debt is charged on the original issue amount of the loan throughout the term of the loan.

The City has temporary borrowing through the MFA. Temporary borrowing financing agreements provide cash flow for ongoing projects, with 
a maximum term of five years during which the regular principal payments are not required. These loans must either be repaid or converted 
to long-term borrowing through a debenture issue at maturity, with interest at a variable rate calculated daily and payable monthly. The 
interest rate as at December 31, 2024 was 4.05% (2023 - 5.61%).

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $67,658 in April 

(principal & interest) and $19,280 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 

the year 2046 and annual interest payable is $38,560

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $124,884 in April 

(principal & interest) and $40,782 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 

the year 2044 and annual interest payable is $81,564

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $40,267 in April 

(principal & interest) and $13,608 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 

the year 2042 and annual interest payable is $27,216

Non-interest bearing grant repayable to Columbia Basin Trust through annual payments of 

$40,000 beginning in October 2026. The repayable grant matures in the year 2050 

Future minimum principal payments and actuarial additions on the equipment financing loans, long-term debt and temporary borrowing for 

the next five years and thereafter, including actuarial adjustments, are due as follows:
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8 Reserve Funds

2024 2023

Statutory reserves, note 9
Cemetery Maintenance Fund $ 449,270           $ 422,741           
Regional Infrastructure 603,850           512,800           
Property Tax Sale (3,612)              (3,613)              
Equipment Replacement 1,309,193        954,710           
Parkland Acquisition 389,721           426,442           
Cemetery Replacement Fund 14,146             18,906             
Community Works Fund 672,322           1,435,576        
Land Sale 388,069           210,107           

3,822,959        3,977,669        

Operating reserves, note 9
General fund 9,155,652        8,889,636        
Water fund 5,268,692        4,659,230        
Sewer fund 866,045           1,506,185        

Storm fund 2,246,927        1,864,182        

Airport fund 707,902           (29,205)            

18,245,218      16,890,028      

$ 22,068,177      $ 20,867,697      

9 Accumulated surplus

2024 2023

Equity in tangible capital assets $ 72,614,971      $ 70,008,385      

Statutory reserve funds, note 8 3,822,959        3,977,669        

Operating reserve funds, note 8 18,245,218      16,890,028      

Current funds (2,263,725)       (739,973)          

$ 92,419,423      $ 90,136,109      

Equity in tangible capital assets represents the net book value of total tangible capital assets, plus work in progress, less long term debt 

obligations assumed to acquire tangible capital assets and asset retirement obligations. 

Statutory reserves funds represent amounts that are restricted by the Community Charter and associated Municipal Bylaws. The funds are 

set aside for the specific purpose stipulated and can only be used for this purpose.

Operating reserves represent amounts that are set aside for anticipated future expenditures. The funds are not governed by bylaw and are 

not restricted.
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10 Taxation and Fees and Services Revenues

Taxation and fees and services revenues comprise the following amounts raised:

2024 2023
Collection for City purposes:

General $ 11,376,540 38% $ 10,613,075 38%
Parcel Tax 537,150 2% 537,979 2%
Grants in lieu of taxes 977,165 3% 932,653 3%

12,890,855 44% 12,083,707 44%

Waste disposal fees 970,742 3% 509,573 2%
Other fees and service charges 704,352 2% 837,627 3%
Water utility fees 2,352,333 8% 2,291,512 8%
Sewer utility fees 1,826,953 6% 1,719,459 6%
Airport fees 1,189,920 4% 1,018,904 4%

7,044,300 23% 6,377,075 23%

Total for City purposes $ 19,935,155 67% $ 18,460,782 67%

The City is required to collect taxes on behalf of and transfer to the following government agencies:

Province of BC - School taxes

Residential $ 2,770,661 9% $ 2,725,020 10%

Non-residential 2,409,620 8% 2,264,625 8%

5,180,281 17% 4,989,645 18%

Regional District of Central Kootenay 4,041,964 14% 3,650,938 13%

Regional Hospital Districts 452,676 2% 448,661 2%

B.C. Assessment Authority 161,947 1% 155,731 1%

Municipal Finance Authority 578 0% 559 0%

4,657,164 16% 4,255,889 15%

Total for Other Governments 9,837,445 33% 9,245,534 33%

Total Taxation $ 29,772,600 100% $ 27,706,316 100%

11 Development Cost Charges

The City collects development cost charges in accordance with the Local Government Act and the City's Development

Cost Charge Bylaw. These funds must be used for specific purposes as stipulated by the Local Government Act and the
Municipal Development Cost Charges Bylaw.

Total Road Water Sewer Drainage Open Space

Balance, beginning 
  of year $ 2,117,108         $ 1,110,488       $ 303,474           $ 614,407           $ 60,877             $ 27,862        

Interest earned 77,934              41,187            11,255             22,786             2,258               448             

Contributions 43,039              26,205            5,670               10,058             73                    1,033          
Expenditures (77,463)             (77,463)           -                       -                       -                       -                  

Balance, end
  of year $ 2,160,618         $ 1,100,417       $ 320,399           $ 647,251           $ 63,208             $ 29,343        
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12 Pension Liability

The City of Castlegar and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The board of trustees, 
representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of 
benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 
2023, the plan has about 256,000 active members and approximately 129,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 
45,000 contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary 
determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is 
based on the entry age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide 
benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be 
adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a $3,761 million funding surplus for 
basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025.
    
The City of Castlegar paid $545,045 (2023 - $473,879) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2024. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the fiscal year 

(defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in 

aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in 

the plan. 
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Note 13: Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets - As at December 31, 2024

Equipment / Other 

Furniture / Tangible 2024

Land Buildings Vehicles Water Sewer Roads Drainage Capital Assets Total

COST

Opening Balance 14,551,410$     18,598,762$     15,278,517$  32,716,070$   26,760,272$   45,699,501$     9,466,190$    7,031,276$        170,101,998$     

Add: Additions 102,000            134,530            1,373,105      617,958         1,749,960       6,923,611         245,481         1,809,764          12,956,409         

Less: Disposals 76,716              -                    166,869        -                 -                 -                   -                 -                     243,585              

Closing Balance 14,576,694       18,733,292       16,484,753    33,334,028     28,510,232     52,623,112       9,711,671      8,841,040          182,814,822       

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance -                    11,387,163       10,421,551    18,298,287     17,056,030     22,839,662       5,929,228      4,490,379          90,422,300         

Add:  Amortization -                    739,427            988,005        720,438         540,824         1,040,774         128,526         363,658             4,521,652           

Less:  Acc. Amortization on Disposals -                    -                    73,705          -                 -                 -                   -                 -                     73,705                

Closing Balance -                    12,126,590       11,335,851    19,018,725     17,596,854     23,880,436       6,057,754      4,854,037          94,870,247         

Net Book Value for year ended

14,576,694$     6,606,702$       5,148,902$    14,315,303$   10,913,378$   28,742,676$     3,653,917$    3,987,003$        87,944,575$       

Net Book Value year ended 

14,833,054$     7,576,987$       4,298,508$    15,336,048$   10,950,612$   23,464,397$     3,500,384$    3,206,991$        79,679,698$       

Engineering Structures

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023
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Note 13: Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets - As at December 31, 2023

Equipment / Other 

Furniture / Tangible 2023

Land Buildings Vehicles Water Sewer Roads Drainage Capital Assets Total

COST

Opening Balance 14,551,410$     18,420,668$     13,805,557$  32,200,827$   26,760,272$   45,646,481$     9,466,190$    7,031,276$        167,882,681$     

Add: Additions -                    297,730            1,549,417      670,085         -                 53,020              -                 -                     2,570,252           

Less: Disposals -                    119,636            76,457          154,842         -                 -                   -                 -                     350,935              

Closing Balance 14,551,410       18,598,762       15,278,517    32,716,070     26,760,272     45,699,501       9,466,190      7,031,276          170,101,998       

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance -                    10,922,327       9,584,764      17,555,012     16,398,397     21,910,637       5,816,816      4,164,666          86,352,619         

Add:  Amortization -                    578,813            913,244        898,117         657,633         929,025            112,412         325,713             4,414,957           

Less:  Acc. Amortization on Disposals -                    113,977            76,457          154,842         -                 -                   -                 -                     345,276              

Closing Balance -                    11,387,163       10,421,551    18,298,287     17,056,030     22,839,662       5,929,228      4,490,379          90,422,300         

Net Book Value for year ended

14,551,410$     7,211,599$       4,856,966$    14,417,783$   9,704,242$     22,859,839$     3,536,962$    2,540,897$        79,679,698$       

Net Book Value year ended 

14,551,410$     7,223,039$       4,220,793$    14,639,170$   10,362,143$   23,735,844$     3,649,374$    2,866,610$        81,530,062$       

Engineering Structures

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022
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14 Work in progress

2024 2023

Expected in-

service date

Airport Required Navigational Performance $ 895,047          $ 896,045          2025

Columbia Ave Phase III 269,336          267,404          2029

South Sewage Treatment Plant N. Train Reinstatement 201,694          44,328            2025

Airport Terminal Expansion 70,480            9,859              2027

Brandson Memorial Park Upgrades 62,892            -                      2025

Blueberry Fire System Upgrades 37,290            37,290            2026

Airport Groundside Entrance Improvement 36,696            -                      2028

North Sewer Lagoon Safety Fence 33,760            33,760            2025

2nd and 5th Avenue Storm Sewer 24,603            24,603            2025

2nd Ave Wall and Road Upgrade 20,921            20,921            2025

SCADA Upgrades 11,029            -                      2025

Airport Land Plan 10,007            10,007            2025

Schulte Crescent Storm Project 9,011              9,011              2025

Highland Booster 7,568              7,568              2025

Civic Works Washbay & Pipe Racks 6,173              6,173              2025

Carpenters' Bay Vacuum System 6,000              6,000              2025

South Sewage Treatment Plant Cover All Building 3,780              3,780              2025

Irrigation Upgrades 1,565              1,565              2025

Drainage Improvements 910                 910                 2025

Millennium Park & Ponds Upgrade Phase III -                      1,368,870       

Park Pumphouse MCC Upgrades -                      227,364          

Airport Apron Expansion -                      167,332          

Orchard Avenue Phase II -                      109,062          

Lift Station Kiosk -                      105,710          

Ventilation Upgrades -                      66,150            

Taxiway B Expansion -                      61,052            

Geotubes Construction -                      60,029            

North Lagoon UV Disinfection System -                      56,902            

$ 1,708,762       $ 3,601,695       

15 Expenses by Object

2024 2023

Salary, wages and taxable employee benefits $ 8,537,655       $ 7,400,631       

Materials, goods, utilities, services, contracts 12,453,983     11,750,424     

Accretion -                      56,892            

Amortization 4,521,652       4,414,957       

Interest on long term debt and agreements payable 604,981          530,077          

Total Expenses $ 26,118,271     $ 24,152,981     

Work in progress are tangible capital assets that are not being amortized because they are under construction. Work in 

progress will be included in the tangible capital asset inventory and amortized when the project is complete and operating at 

full capacity. The book values of work in progress and their expected in-service dates are as follows:
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16 Government Transfers

In 2024, the City received and recorded as revenue the following transfers:

2024 2023

Provincial Unconditional Transfers

Small Community Grant $ 493,100 $ 450,000

Climate Action Revenue Incentive Program 281,527 96,082

Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing Grant 71,000 62,000

845,627 608,082

Provincial Conditional Transfers

Airports Capital Assistance Program $ 1,660,069 $ -                      

Canada Community-Building Fund 90,781 9,859

Local Government Housing Initiative 67,952 -                      

FireSmart 47,374 -                      

UBCM - ADU Program 45,000 -                      

Indigenous Engagement Requirements Funding 40,000 -                      

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 39,633 1,408,714

Canada Day Fund 4,000 -                      

Growing Communities Fund -                      3,094,000

2022 Strengthening Communities' Services -                      106,289

Strengthening Communities' Services -                      18,915

Housing Needs Report -                      10,834

1,994,809 4,648,611

Federal Conditional Transfers

Municipal Asset Management Program $ 11,880 $ 29,304

Airports Capital Assistance Program -                      167,333

11,880 196,637

Regional and Other External Conditional Transfers

Other Conditional Transfers $ 398,161 $ 381,639

Clean BC - Organic Infrastructure and Collection Program -                      895,833

398,161 1,277,472

Total Government Transfers $ 3,250,477       $ 6,730,802

17 Contracts and Commitments

a) West Kootenay Regional Airport

Year Amount

2025 $ 687,563
2026 583,962

c) Capital Projects

The City has purchase and service contracts related to current capital projects, valued at $251,012, plus taxes. 

In October 2021, the City of Castlegar and Dexterra Integrated Facilities Management entered into a five year agreement to 

operate and maintain the West Kootenay Regional Airport.

The terms of the contract require that Dexterra Integrated Facilities Management provide all labour, materials, 

superintendence and other services necessary to provide operations and maintenance services at the Airport. 

Minimum payments required under the contract with Dexterra Integrated Facilities Management are as follows:
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18 Segmented Information

General Government Services:

Protection Services:

Transportation and Civic Works:

Waste Disposal and Recycling:

Waste disposal and recycling consists of providing waste disposal services to citizens.

Public Health and Welfare:

Environmental Development Services:

Recreation and Cultural Services:

Water, Sewer and Storm:

Airport:

The municipality owns facilities which house The Castlegar and District Heritage Museum, The Kootenay Gallery of Arts, 

The Doukhobor Discovery Centre and The Castlegar and District Public Library. The City also provides funding to these 

organizations. The Recreation and Cultural Services also provides maintenance of City parks.

The City owns and operates the West Kootenay Regional Airport. Operation and maintenance of the Airport is contracted to 

a third party (note 17).

This item is related to the revenues and expenses that relate to the operations of the Municipality itself and cannot be 

directly attributed to specific segments.

Protection Services is comprised of police services, fire protection, municipal emergency programming, building inspection 

and animal control. The police services department is responsible for ensuring the safety of the lives and property of 

citizens, preserving the peace and good order, preventing crimes from occurring, detecting offenders, and enforcing the 

law. Police services are contracted, under a Municipal Police Service Agreement with the Province of British Columbia, to 

the Royal  Canadian Mounted Police. The Fire Department is responsible for providing fire suppression services, fire 

prevention programs, training and education. The members of the fire department consist of a Fire Chief, a Deputy Fire 

Chief and a number of volunteer fire fighters. Building  inspection ensures an acceptable quality of building construction and 

maintenance of properties through enforcement of construction codes, building standards, and by-laws for the protection of 

occupants.

The Department of Transportation and Civic Works is responsible for the delivery of municipal public works services 

relating to the development and maintenance of roadway systems, the maintenance and development of parks and open 

space, street lighting, and storm sewer systems.

The Environmental Development Services Department provides a diverse bundle of services such as city planning, urban 

development for business interests, environmental concerns, and downtown planning. It facilitates economic development 

by providing services for the approval of all land development plans, and the application and enforcement of zoning by-

laws. It processes building permits and business licenses, develops the City's geographic information systems and provides 

by-law enforcement services. 

The Water Service provides the City's drinking water.  The Sewer Service processes and cleans sewage.  The Storm 

Services provides storm water drainage.

Public Health and Welfare consists of the operation, maintenance, and development of a public cemetery and 

community health care initiatives.

The City of Castlegar is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of services to its citizens 

such as police, fire, water, sewer and roads maintenance. Distinguishable functional segments have been separately 

disclosed in the segmented information. The nature of the segments and the activities they encompass are as follows:
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Note 18: Schedule of Segment Disclosure - For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

 General 

Government 

Services 

 Protection 

Services 

 Transportation 

and Civic 

Works 

 Waste 

Disposal and 

Recycling 

 Public Health 

and Welfare 

 Environmental 

Development 

Services 

 Recreation and 

Cultural Services 

 Water, Sewer 

& Storm  Airport  2024 Total 

Taxation $ 2,857,794         $ 4,075,611      $ 3,903,488      $ -                    $ 109,868         $ 75,854                  $ 1,868,240         $ -                    $ -                    $ 12,890,855         

Government grants -                       611,475         43,580           -                    14,799           434,479                393,633            -                    1,752,511      3,250,477           

Community works funding 443,073            -                     -                    -                    -                     -                           -                       -                    -                    443,073              

Fees and charges 261,651            69,432           3,528             1,135,026     40,938           164,519                -                       4,179,286     1,189,920      7,044,300           

Other revenue 1,345,283         74,560           2,108,872      -                    14,190           -                           -                       -                    -                    3,542,905           

Interest, actuarial, other income 1,000,754         -                     -                    -                    -                     -                           -                       205,086        24,134           1,229,975           

5,908,555         4,831,078      6,059,468      1,135,026     179,795         674,852                2,261,873         4,384,374     2,966,565      28,401,585         

Salaries and benefits 2,423,275         1,436,360      1,828,479      32,975          127,218         405,838                682,809            1,418,485     182,215         8,537,655           

Goods and services 1,437,250         3,031,416      2,256,671      1,137,058     52,577           269,014                1,188,392         1,593,114     1,488,492      12,453,983         

Interest and other charges 51,903              213,865         339,212         -                    -                     -                           -                       -                    -                    604,981              

Accretion -                       -                     -                    -                    -                     -                           -                       -                    -                    -                          

Amortization 729,011            149,437         1,635,106      -                    -                     -                           390,672            1,389,788     227,638         4,521,652           

4,641,439         4,831,078      6,059,468      1,170,033     179,795         674,852                2,261,873         4,401,387     1,898,345      26,118,271         

  Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 1,267,115         $ -                     $ -                    $ (35,007)         $ -                     $ -                           $ -                       $ (17,013)         $ 1,068,220      $ 2,283,314           
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19 Budget

The Financial Plan (Budget) By-Law adopted by Council on February 20, 2024 was not prepared on a basis consistent with

that used to report actual results (Public Sector Accounting Standards). The budget was prepared on a modified accrual

basis while Public Sector Accounting Standards now require a full accrual basis. The budget figures anticipated use of 

surpluses accumulated in previous years to reduce current year expenditures in excess of current year revenues to $nil.

In addition, the budget expensed all tangible capital expenditures rather than including amortization expense. As a result

the budget figures presented in the statements of operations and change in net financial assets (debt) represent the

Financial Plan adopted by Council on February 20, 2024 with adjustments as follows:

2024

Financial Plan (budget) Bylaw surplus for the year $ -                     

Budgeted Transfers (2,437,311)     

Amortization (3,862,000)     

Debt Proceeds (7,482,171)     

Capital expenditures 19,090,042    

Internal Recharges (776,300)        

Budgeted surplus per statement of operations $ 4,532,260      

20 Contractual Rights

The City has leased multiple properties to third parties with the following terms:

Lease Expiry Date

$ 477,243         

44,396           

39,440           

38,244           

12,968           

Minimum Annual Lease Payment

February 28, 2025

April 1, 2054

July 31, 2025

November 30, 2027

June 30, 2027
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21 Asset Retirement Obligations

2024 2023

Opening balance $ 1,321,156      $ -                     

Initial recognition of expected discounted cash flows -                     1,264,264      

Adjustment to present value (accretion) -                     56,892           

Asset Retirement Obligations, closing balance $ 1,321,156      $ 1,321,156      

2025 - 2030 $ 1,023,495      

2031 - 2040 459,705         

2041 and beyond 282,520         

Asset Retirement Obligations, undiscounted $ 1,765,720      

22 Financial Instruments

a) Credit Risk

2024 2023

Due from other governments (current) $ 255,791 $ 159,002

666,303 837,593

Other receivables (current) 6,112,660 3,834,816

Total $ 7,034,754 $ 4,831,411

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the City if a debtor fails to discharge their obligation (e.g., pay the accounts 

receivable owing to the City). The City is exposed to this risk arising from its cash, investments, grants receivable and 

accounts receivable. The City holds its cash accounts with a federally regulated chartered bank who is insured by the 

Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation. In the event of default, the City’s cash accounts are insured up to $100,000 

(2023 - $100,000).

Accounts receivable is primarily due from government, corporations and individuals. The City mitigates credit risk by 

regular submission of reporting requirements for grant installments to be paid within six months to a year of the grant 

approval. Property tax receivable risk is mitigated by regular notification to the residents of outstanding amounts and 

ultimately tax sale for recovery, if necessary. If an accounts receivable is held for a long period of time, an impairment 

allowance is setup to offset the receivable. There were no changes in exposures to credit risk during the period. The 

amounts outstanding at year end were as follows:

Legal liabilities exist for the removal and disposal of asbestos and other environmentally hazardous materials within 

some City owned buildings that will undergo major renovations or demolition in the future. The obligation has been 

measured at a discount rate of 4.45% (2023 - 4.50%), MFA's long term lending rate. These costs have been capitalized 

as part of the assets’ carrying value and are amortized over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Taxes receivable (current)

The liability is estimated using a present value technique that discount the expected future expenditures. The discount 

rate used was based on the average Municipal Finance Authority's long term borrowing rate of 4.45% (2023 - 4.50%). 

The total undiscounted expenditures and the time period over which they are expected to be incurred is as follows:
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Financial Instruments (continued)

b) Liquidity Risk

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Accounts payable $ 4,309,792 $ -                     $ -                       $ 348,494 $ 4,658,286

Debt 570,640 6,831,582 1,319,882 6,995,106 15,717,210

Total $ 4,880,432 $ 6,831,582 $ 1,319,882 $ 7,343,600 $ 20,375,496    

c) Market risk

d) Currency risk

e) Interest rate risk

f) Other price risk

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss caused by fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows of financial 

instruments because of changes in market interest rates. The City is exposed to this risk through its interest-bearing 

investments and debt. There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or 

policies, procedures and methods used to measure the risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the City will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due. The City 

mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected outflows through extensive budgeting and maintaining 

investments that may be converted to cash in the near-term if unexpected cash outflows arise. The following table sets 

out the expected maturities, representing undiscounted cash-flows of its financial liabilities:

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, procedures and 

methods used to measure the risk.

During the year, the City became exposed to currency risk when it entered into transactions in United States Dollar 

(USD). Management monitors exchange rates and the markets and may make use of derivative contracts if it expects 

the exchange rates to fluctuate significantly.  

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial statement will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk). The City is not exposed to 

other price risk as the City does not have any investments or equity instruments. 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The City 

operates within the constraints of the investment guidelines in section 183 of the Community Charter, which puts limits 

on the types of investments the City may invest in. The Section permits the City's funds to be invested in securities of 

the Municipal Finance Authority; specified pool investments; securities issued by the Government of Canada, a 

Canadian province, municipality, or regional district; improvements guaranteed by a chartered bank; and deposits in 

savings institutions or non-equity membership shares of a credit union.
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23 Change in Accounting Policy

Effective January 1, 2024, the City adopted new Public Sector Accounting Standards PS 3400 Revenue. This section 

establishes standards on how to account for and report on revenue. The standard was applied prospectively and had no 

impact on the comparative figures.



CITY OF CASTLEGAR Schedule 1

Reserve Fund Balance Sheets
 Unaudited 

As at December 31, 2024

 Regional Infrastructure  Community Works Fund  Equipment Replacement  Parkland Acquisition  Land Sales 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ASSETS

Cash and deposits $ 537,619          $ 478,708       $ -                     $ -                  $ 995,084       $ 748,809       $ 447,714       $ 413,558       $ 329,410    $ 170,428       $

Due from other funds 66,231            34,092         672,321          1,435,575    314,109       205,901       (57,993)       12,884         58,658      39,679         

603,850          512,800       672,321          1,435,575    1,309,193    954,710       389,721       426,442       388,069    210,107       

Fund Balances

Balance, beginning of year 512,800          426,334       1,435,575       1,391,169    954,710       1,049,199    426,442       392,841       210,107    (48,396)       

Contributions 50,000            50,000         443,073          429,851       947,066       337,300       -                  -                  291,642    252,437       

Interest on investments 41,050            36,466         114,918          118,993       40,373         37,797         34,137         33,601         11,204      6,066           

Sale of Assets -                     -                  -                     -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -               -                  

Transfers to operating funds -                     -                  -                     -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -               -                  

Transfers to capital funds -                     -                  (1,321,245)      (504,438)     (632,956)     (469,586)     (70,858)       -                  (124,884)   -                  

Balance, end of year 603,850$        512,800$     672,321$        1,435,575$  1,309,193$  954,710$     389,721$     426,442$     388,069$  210,107$     

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES



CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Reserve Fund Balance Sheets

 Unaudited 

As at December 31, 2024

ASSETS

Cash and deposits

Due from other funds

Fund Balances

Balance, beginning of year

Contributions

Interest on investments

Sale of Assets

Transfers to operating funds

Transfers to capital funds

Balance, end of year

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Schedule 1 (continued)

 Property Tax Sale  Cemetery Maintenance  Cemetery Replacement  Total 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

25                $ 24              $ 442,923       $ 388,045       $ 19,107      $ 178           $ 2,771,883    $ 2,199,750    

(3,637)         (3,637)        6,348           34,696         (4,960)       18,728      1,051,077    1,777,919    

(3,612)         (3,613)        449,271       422,741       14,146      18,906      3,822,960    3,977,669    

(3,613)         (3,614)        422,741       396,211       18,906      12,252      3,977,668    3,615,996    

-                  -                 -                  -                  -               -                1,731,781    1,069,588    

1                 1                19,585         19,585         200           8               261,468       252,517       

-                  -                 6,945           6,945           7,245        6,965        14,190         13,910         
-                  

-                  -                 -                  -                  -               -                -                  -                  

-                  -                 -                  -                  (12,205)     (319)          (2,162,148)   (974,343)     

(3,612)$       (3,613)$      449,271$     422,741$     14,146$    18,906$    3,822,959$  3,977,668$  
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Growing Communities Fund Grant

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Actual 2024 Actual 2023

Opening Balance $ 3,219,875       $ -                     

Grant funding received -                     3,094,000       

Interest earned 163,785          125,875          

Airport Required Navigational Performance License (206,441)        -                     

South Sewage Treatment Plant Geotube System (616,385)        -                     

Closing Balance $ 2,560,835       $ 3,219,875       
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Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Actual 2024 Actual 2023

Opening Balance $ -                     $ -                     

Grant funding received 189,154          -                     

Zoning Bylaw (59,252)          -                     

Parking Regulatory Review (8,700)            -                     

Closing Balance (deferred revenue) $ 121,202          $ -                     



Schedule of Guarantees and Indemnity Agreements 

 

A Schedule of Guarantees and Indemnity Payments has not been prepared because this organization has 
not given any guarantees or indemnities under the Guarantees and Indemnities Regulation. 

 

  



Schedule of Elected Official Remuneration 

 

 
 
  Name Office Held  Payroll  Expenses  

              

       
MCFADDIN, MARIA Mayor 

 
41,856 

 
 8,652  

 

BOGLE, BRIAN Councillor 
 

18,528 
 

7,576 
 

BOJECHKO, SANDRA Councillor 
 

18,528 
 

1,535 
 

BELL, DARCY Councillor 
 

18,528 
 

    375 
 

FALSTEAD, SHIRLEY Councillor 
 

18,528 
 

6,664  
 

HEATON-SHERSTOBITOFF, SUE Councillor 
 

18,528 
 

1,012 
 

MCLEOD, CHERRYL Councillor  18,528  6,392  

            

Total  $ 153,024  $ 32,206  

            



 

Schedule of Employee Remuneration 

Schedule of Employee Remuneration 6(2)(b) and (c) 

      
Name Position   2024 Payroll   Expenses 

AHLFELD, NICK Acting Fire Chief $ 140,357 $ 4,308 

ANDERSON, MICHELLE Administrative Assistant  80,772  3,402 

BANKERT, DARREN Journeyman Carpenter  87,900      230 

BARLOW, CHRISTOPHER Chief Administrative Officer 
 

194,398 
 

17,876 

BARTLETT, GREG Operations Worker, Parks 
 

79,645 
 

1,257 

BATE, STEVE Working Foreperson, Roads 
 

90,986 
 

1,505 

BAZAR, CRYSTAL Assistant Manager - Operations  108,046  1,865 

BAZGIER, MIROSLAV Treatment Plant Operator I  84,544  1,549 

BERESFORD, FRANK Heavy Equipment Operator  84,630  1,381 

BLAIS, CHRISTOPHER Mechanic 
 

83,319 
 

1,426 

BOJECHKO, DARREL Heavy Equipment Operator 
 

75,133 
 

1,328 

BOONE, DANA Maintenance Person Water/Sewer 
 

79,311 
 

1,648 

BRAZEAU, KYLER Mechanic 
 

100,235 
 

925 

BRISTOW, DAVID R Information Technology Manager 
 

141,992 
 

6,181 

BROWN, NICOLE Manager of Legislative Services 
 

133,520 
 

4,590 

CHAHLEY, TODD Working Foreperson, Water/Sewer 
 

91,077 
 

947 

CORDEIRO, NELSON Operations Worker, Roads 
 

78,777 
 

1,185 

DRINKWATER, MAXWELL Working Foreperson, Facilities 
 

88,821 
 

460 

DUDLEY, IAN Head Treatment Plant Operator 
 

95,372 
 

732 

DURAND, MEERI Manager of Planning, Development & Sustainability 
 

126,766 
 

2,071 

GECK, AARON Assistant Manager - Utilities 
 

98,734 
 

2,179 

HABRYCH, MACIEJ Airport Manager 
 

139,558 
 

3,504 

HALLAM, CHRIS Director of Municipal Services 
 

159,232 
 

7,924 

HESKETH, CHARLES Maintenance Person Water/Sewer 
 

78,601 
 

1,699 

JAGO, PHILIP ANDREW Treatment Plant Operator II 
 

84,275 
 

358 

KANIGAN, JOHN Working Foreperson, Mechanical Shop 
 

91,225 
 

892 

LATTANZIO, SAM M Fire Chief 
 

157,304 
 

691 

LINDSEY, GRAHAM Maintenance Person Water/Sewer 
 

90,660 
 

1,219 

MARTIN, SARAH Planner - Policy 
 

90,722 
 

1,395 

MONSEN, CYNTHIA Operations Worker, Parks 
 

77,171 
 

1,639 

MONSEN, DUANE Deputy Fire Chief 
 

152,666 
 

1,469 

NIDDERY, RYAN Manager of Engineering and Infrastructure 
 

117,844 
 

3,786 



OLADELE, OLA Director of Finance & Information Technology 
 

108,680 
 

3,489 

POSTNIKOFF, JAKE Building Official 
 

96,594 
 

1,440 

ROBERTSON, KELLY Acting Senior Financial Analyst 
 

103,271 
 

2,885 

SEABROOK, BREE Director of Corporate Services 
 

137,105 
 

2,921 

SHINE, SAMUEL Operations Manager 
 

107,101 
 

231 

SIMONEN, ANNE Project Manager 
 

105,669 
 

2,665 

STITZENBERGER, MCKENNA Health & Safety Specialist 
 

121,474 
 

3,485 

THOMPSON, DOUG Operations Worker 
 

76,147 
 

2,383 

THOMSON, KURT Treatment Plant Operator II 
 

92,778 
 

352 

UHLENBRAUCK, AIMEE Manager of Financial Services 
 

114,369 
 

4,424 

VERIGIN, RYAN Heavy Equipment Operator 
 

77,042 
 

1,425 

VLASIC, JOSHUA Working Foreperson, Parks 
 

89,652 
 

2,980 

WEINRAUCH, BRYAN Heavy Equipment Operator 
 

76,968 
 

2,174 

ZANUSSI, CURTIS Parks Technician 
 

80,292 
 

3,011 

  
 

 
 

 

      

Total Employees earning $75,000 or more  4,770,735  115,487 

Total Employees earning less than $75,000  1,803,994  50,197 

          

      

Total Employees  $ 6,574,729 $ 165,684 

          

    
    

Remuneration Reconciliation 

                                Remuneration 

Total Elected Officials                                $          153,024 

Total Employees                                              $       6,574,729 

Subtotal                                               $        6,727,753 

 

Total                     Included in Statement of Revenues and Expenditures                                                                 $       6,727,753  



Schedule of Severance Agreements 

There was one severance agreement between the City of Castlegar and an employee during fiscal year 
2024. The employee received 6 months of compensation. 

 

 

* "Compensation" means the employee’s base salary and benefits. 

  



Schedule of Payments 

  Supplier    AMOUNT PAID  

 1022117 AB LTD (DYNAMIC)           $     42,240  

 AM FORM SALES LTD.                128,329 

 AARDVARK PAVEMENT MARKING                109,063  

 ABLE BUILDING MAINTENANCE                  59,357  

 ACERA INSURANCE                214,344  

 ANDREW SHERET LIMITED                  27,354  

 ARROW TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS INC.                105,084  

 BAKER NATHAN                62,026  

 BANK OF MONTREAL                286,521  

 BC ASSESSMENT AUTHORITY                162,190  

 BC SPCA WEST KOOTENAY BRANCH                  43,370  

 BLACK PRESS GROUP LTD.                  33,830  

 BRANDT TRACTOR LTD                150,342  

 BRUCE NELSON                136,041 

 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY             1,929,985  

 CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY COMPANY                115,236  

 CASTLEGAR & DISTRICT HERITAGE SOCIETY                  46,605  

 CASTLEGAR & DISTRICT PUBLIC LIBRARY                338,690  

 CASTLEGAR CHAMBER OF COMMERCE                150,170  

 CASTLEGAR SCULPTURE WALK                  91,724  

 CINTAS LOCATION 889                  33,624  

 CLEARTECH INDUSTRIES INC.                  46,041  

 COLUMBIA BASIN BROADBAND CORPORATION                  55,152  

 COPCAN CIVIL LP             4,517,416  

 COLLIERS PROJECT LEADERS INC                  51,908 

 COVER ARCHITECHURAL COLLABORATIVE INC                  27,825 

 CUPE LOCAL 2262                  65,524  

 DANDELION RENEWABLES                  49,820 

 DELL CANADA INC.                  40,218  

 DEXTERRA INTEGRATED FACILITIES MANAGEMENT                606,458 

 DGH CONTRACTING                  38,220  

 DHC COMMUNICATIONS INC                  42,372  

 DOANE GRANT THORNTON LLP                  58,284 

 EMPLOYER HEALTH TAX - PROV OF BC                134,679  

 FALCON EQUIPMENT                  44,421 

 FAMILY TREE GARDENING                  61,686 

 FORTIS BC - ELECTRICITY                554,504  

 FORTISBC-NATURAL GAS                  82,682  

 GE FLIGHT EFFICIENCY SERVICES LLC                247,667 

 GFL ENVIRONMENTAL INC.                  43,670 



 GLACIER VALLEY TREE CARE LTD.                  71,224  

 GROUP SOURCE                364,764 

 HACH SALES & SERVICE CANADA LP                  26,041  

 ICBC (INSURANCE CORPORATION OF BC)                  57,411 

 INLAND TRUCK AND EQUIPMENT LTD.                  54,717 

 INSIGHT CANADA INC                  53,281  

 ION BRAND DESIGN                  44,567  

 KENDRICK EQUIPMENT (2003) LTD.                139,620  

 KOOTENAY DIRTY DIGGERS (0954170 BC LTD)                  36,729  

 KOOTENAY DOUKHOBOR HISTORICAL SOCIETY                  46,575  

 KOOTENAY GALLERY OF ART HISTORY AND SCIENCE                  58,470  

 KOOTENAY WEED CONTROL                  35,874  

 KOOTENAY GROUND MAINTENANCE                  45,690  

 LIN & MIKE PLUMBING & HEATING SERVICES LTD.                  96,799  

 LORDCO PARTS LTD.                  79,179  

 MARLOWE-YEOMAN LTD.                  33,000 

 MARTECH ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS LTD.                223,635  

 MARWEST INDUSTRIES LTD.             2,778,153 

 MERCER CELGAR                  81,433 

 MINISTER OF FINANCE – BC MAIL PLUS                  26,980  

 MITCHELL SUPPLY LIMITED                  31,986 

 MUNICIPAL INSURANCE ASSOCIATION OF BC                  73,282  

 MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN            1,085,288  

 MVH URBAN PLANNING & DESIGN INC.                  57,319  

 NACHURS ALPINE SOLUTIONS                  44,226  

 NSC MINERALS LTD                  26,463 

 ON THE EDGE HR                  32,801  

 PARKWORKS SOLUTIONS CORP                405,858  

 QUESTICA GTY SOFTWARE                  30,438  

 RDM JANITORIAL                  57,577  

 RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA - CONTRACT             1,571,089  

 REGIONAL DISTRICT OF CENTRAL KOOTENAY             4,805,558  

 REGIONAL DISTRICT OF KOOTENAY BOUNDARY                  50,125  

 ROCKY MOUNTAIN PHOENIX                  95,392  

 ROLLINS MACHINERY LIMITED                128,256 

 ROPER GREYELL                  25,068  

 SEA2CLOUD                  70,711 

 SLOCAN VALLEY CO-OPERATIVE ASSOCIATION                172,823  

 STUDIO 531 ARCHITECTS INC.                  69,681  

 SUMMIT FENCE INC.                121,090 

 SURVEYOR OF TAXES MINISTRY OF FINANCE             2,937,816  

 TELUS COMMUNICATIONS (B.C.) INC.                  31,604  

 TELUS MOBILITY (BC)                  44,813  



 TETRA TECH CANADA INC                182,175  

 THE BC CORPS OF COMMISSIONAIRES                195,471  

 THRIVE OPERATIONS CANADA LTD                  34,411 

 THUNDERBIRD TRAFFIC CONTROL AND TRAINING                  26,219 

 TRAINOR MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS LTD.                  45,029 

 TROJAN TECHNOLOGIES GROUP                256,906 

 TROWELEX EQUIPMENT RENTALS AND SALES                  63,408  

 URBAN SYSTEMS LTD.                974,257  

 VALHALLA SEPTIC SERVICES LTD.                  39,883  

 VIMAR EQUIPMENT LTD.                811,231 

 WATSON ENGINEERING LTD.                  40,059 

 WASTE MANAGEMENT                910,503  

 WEST K SAND & GRAVEL LTD.                  88,044 

 WEST KOOTENAY-BOUNDARY REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT                452,929  

 WORKSAFE BC                239,801  

 XENOCYBER DYNAMICS INC.                160,581  

    

 Over $25,000           31,941,606  

    
 Under $25,000  1,942,541 

 TOTAL  $          33,884,147 

 

  



Reconciliation of Payments to Financial Statements 

 

S.O.F.I. Report Scheduled Payments     

      

  Remuneration               $          6,574,729  

  Payments for Goods and Services           33,884,147  

       

Total of Scheduled Payments   40,458,876  

      

Total of Financial Statement Expenses   $    26,118,271  

      
The City prepares the schedule of payments based on actual disbursements processed through its Accounts Payable 
System. This provides assurance on completeness as the reported amounts are reconciled to the financial system 
cheque register and electronic funds transfer records. The difference between the total of Payments and the Total 
Financial Statements Expenses will differ significantly due to: 

      
 - Adjustments to account for the difference between payments made on a cash basis, and the audited 
   financial statements reporting expenses on an accrual basis of accounting. This would include  

   adjustments for opening and closing balances of inventories, prepaid expenses, and accrued liabilities. 

      
- List of payments to suppliers include 100% GST while the expenses in the financial statements are net  
  of the applicable GST rebate.     

      
- Capital expenditures are shown as payments to the vendor in the list of payments. However, they are 

  not shown as expenses in the financial statements as they are capitalized to the balance sheet. 

      
- The schedule of payments to suppliers of goods and services includes payments made on behalf 

   of third parties, which are recovered from these parties. These expenses are not included on the  

   financial statements.      
      
- The schedule of payments to suppliers of goods and services includes payments made to other property 

  taxing jurisdictions. These payments are offset by property taxation received on behalf of the jurisdiction. 

  Expenses are not shown on the financial statements.    
 
 
  



Schedule of Financial Information Approval 

The undersigned, as authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 9(2), 
approves all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial Information, produced 
under the Financial Information Act. 
 

 

 

 

Maria McFaddin 

Mayor 

 

 

 

 

Steffan Klassen, CPA CA 

Director of Finance 

September 15, 2025 

 

 

 

 
 



 
       

REPORT TO COUNCIL  
 
MEETING DATE: September 15, 2025 REPORT NO.:  25-72 
 
SUBMITTED BY: Director of Finance &Technology FILE NO.:  1700-20 
  
SUBJECT:  2024 Annual Report 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
THAT Council approve the release of the draft 2024 Annual Report to the public, 
including the 2024 Audited Financial Statements, for the year ended December 31, 2024,  
 
AND FURTHER; 
 
THAT the Annual Meeting, as required by the Community Charter, be set for the October 
6, 2025, Regular Council Meeting starting at 7:00 p.m.  
 
 
PURPOSE: 
A report to present and obtain Council’s comments on the draft Annual Report and approval 
to release the draft 2024 Annual Report to the public and set a meeting date for public 
comments on the draft 2024 Annual Report.  
 
This staff report is for review at the September 15, 2025, Committee of the Whole Meeting, 
and adoption at the September 15, 2025, Regular Council Meeting to set the Annual Meeting 
date for October 6, 2025. 
 
SUMMARY/BACKGROUND: 
The 2024 Annual Report provides the public with an account of the City of Castlegar’s financial 
position and report on operations for the year ending December 31, 2024. Publication of an 
Annual Report is a legislated requirement for all municipalities and must contain: 
 

1. Audited financial statements 
2. Report on permissive tax exemptions 
3. Report on municipal services and operations 
4. Progress report on the performance of the municipality 
5. Statement of objectives and measures for the current year and the next year 
6. Other information Council considers advisable 

 
The financial statements included in the 2024 Annual Report are prepared in accordance with 
section 167 of the Community Charter and Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles as established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB). The statements are 
prepared by City staff and the amounts and notes shown on the statements have been audited 
by an independent third-party auditor. 
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The Annual Meeting is to be held to consider the annual report and to receive submissions 
and questions from the public prior to June 30 of each year, in accordance with section 99 of 
the Community Charter. The Annual Meeting for 2024 is occurring on October 6, 2025, due to 
resourcing constraints in the Finance Department. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
That Council does not approve the release of the 2024 Annual Report. Staff does not 
recommend this as it could further delay the Annual Meeting.  
 
IMPLICATIONS: 
(1) Social  Publishing the Annual Report provides the community with 

important information regarding the financial stability, municipal 
services, and livability of their community. The Annual Report is a 
critical tool to maintain public trust and accountability. 
 

(2) Environmental The City produces limited print versions of the report and 
encourages electronic viewing of the report to decrease the use of 
paper. 
 

(3) Personnel Staff time to produce the report can vary year to year. It is 
estimated that 40 hours of staff time was committed to the 
production of the 2024 Annual Report. 
 

(4) Financial The City incurs approximately $6,500 in graphic design costs and 
$500 for printing costs. 

  

POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
An Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements are required under sections 167 and 98 
of the Community Charter. Section 99 of the Community Charter requires that the City hold an 
Annual Meeting to consider the Annual Report and receive submissions and questions from 
the public. 
 
The Annual Report supports the 2024-2028 Strategic Plan Principle of Governance and 
Service Excellence and the goal of Responsible Stewards. 
 
IMPLEMENTATION: 
The Annual Meeting is scheduled for October 6, 2025, at 7:00 p.m. prior to the Regular Council 
Meeting. The public will have the opportunity to comment or ask questions at that time. 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
Public notification of the Annual Meeting date will be in the local newspaper on September 18 
and September 25, 2025, in accordance with section 94.1 of the Community Charter, and 
added to our website’s Events page. A Facebook post will also be made to advertise the 
Annual Meeting. The draft 2024 Annual Report will be available on the City’s website and at 
City Hall for public inspection. 
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Respectfully submitted, Approved by 
 

 
 
Steffan Klassen, CPA CA 
Director of Finance & Technology 

 

 
 
 
Chris Barlow, A.Sc.T. 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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Who We Are
Two great rivers meet at a unique place in the Southern Interior of 
British Columbia where people have lived for millennia, and others 
have brought traditions from around the world.

This is a place that values creativity, individuality, innovation, and education. It is a place 
of multi-generational family and love. From the converging energy of these two rivers 
springs the creativity and unique culture that makes the City of Castlegar an idyllic place 
to live, work, and grow. Creativity leads us here. 

We are a population of 13,700 City and area, and a trade area of 70,000. The economy is 
diversified and growing, focused on forestry (Mercer-Celgar Mill, Interfor, Kalesnikoff), 
energy (Columbia Power, FortisBC and BC Hydro), mining (Teck), and commercial services 
in the City. We are the service centre within British Columbia’s West Kootenay Region. 

Quality of life features backcountry adventure and an increasingly dynamic urban 
culture, including the very popular Millennium Park & Ponds and the annual 
Sculpturewalk event. 

The City’s desirability as an affordable business and lifestyle choice will continue to grow 
with anticipated investments in commercial development, housing, and technology and 
broadband service.



Trade area of

70,000
City 
population

9,042

ECONOMY TOURISM DEMOGRAPHICS

Average home value  
in 2024

$520,000 
6% from 2023

Number of single-family  
dwellings units

2,912

HOUSING

City's 
elevation

450m

LOCATION

Total visitors at  
Visitor Centre

3,402

City Snapshot
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Mission
Our mission is to provide open and responsive government and 
well-planned and delivered services to the citizens of Castlegar. 

Community Vision
Castlegar is a small city with a big heart and big ideas. It’s a place where opportunity 
meets lifestyle. Our community is shaped through innovation: innovation in 
sustainability, regional servicing, and technology.

We are a community with a sense of place, created by people with purpose and 
passion. Surrounded by trees, mountains, and water, we have a consistently high 
quality landscape and local airshed. 

Excellence in energy action and conservation showcases our leadership in 
environmental stewardship. Our economic environment is adaptable to fluctuating 
market conditions and attracts creative entrepreneurship. 

Living is affordable, housing forms are diverse, neighbourhoods are complete and 
inclusive and the community is well serviced. We are a connection point that unites  
the region - a hub from which to explore life’s adventure. Nature and technology are 
our enablers.



Number of parks  
in the city

23

Total 
grant revenue

$3,250,477 

DEVELOPMENT

PARKS FINANCE

Building permits 
issued

126

Business 
licenses issued

781

DEVELOPMENT DEVELOPMENT

2024 Construction value

$17,717,677

City Snapshot
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The Planning Process
Strategic planning is an important process that identifies community-

level priorities. The Annual Report outlines what was achieved in relation 

to our stated principles, objectives and strategies.

The strategic planning process creates an opportunity for the City to reflect on what is 
important to the community and use that information to develop a guiding document 
that helps set priorities, manage resources, and track progress and successes. 

The Council Strategic Plan guides what work we do for the community and how we do 
it. It is a critical resource when developing operational plans to guide the day-to-day 
work we do.

Council
Strategic

Plan

Organizational
Strategic Plan

Reporting on what was 
achieved in relation to stated 

objectives and strategies

Financial plan that 
allocates the resources 

to the work

Community Plan
The vision set by
our community

Focus of Council
to reach the

community vision

Long term and annual 
work plans to implement 

the Strategic Plan

Annual Budget
and 5 year

Financial Plan

Annual
Report
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Strategic Plan 
Principles

PRINCIPLE 1

Governance & Service Excellence
We make difficult decisions in the best long-term interest of the community. 
We manage assets and infrastructure with fiscal prudence, using  
business-minded and long-term perspectives. Our actions are guided by 
community-informed master plans, which provide clarity of what we do  
and when and why.

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

	­ Adopted Community Plan 2033 after engaging 800+ residents. 

	­ Administered the School District 20 Trustee Area 2 By-election.

	­ Installed a Geotube Biosolids Management System at the South Sewage 
Treatment Plant.

	­ Secured a $10,000 grant to assess the North Well’s viability as a backup 
water supply, supporting emergency operations and redundancy planning.

	­ Approved a five-year agreement with Recycle BC, increasing incentives and 
reducing costs for residents.

	­ Purchased a loader and vacuum truck to enhance Civic Works operations.
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PRINCIPLE 2

A Future with Affordable Homes for All
We are in a housing crisis. The City of Castlegar is committed to doing 
everything it can to ensure the mix of housing the community needs. The City 
has the courage to step outside of our traditional role and take action to make 
housing happen. We continually minimize and reduce barriers and bureaucracy 
to support development.

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

	® Launched and funded an Accessory Dwelling Program to support infill 
development and increased housing options.

	® Adopted a new zoning bylaw to broaden housing opportunities.

	® Implemented provincial requirements for short-term accommodations.

	® Council visited the City of Salmon Arm to observe shelter services and  
supportive housing, gaining insights and lessons learned.

	® Extended the temporary-use permit for the emergency winter shelter for 
an additional season.

	® Completed the Interim Housing Needs Report, ensuring alignment with 
new provincial methodology.

	® Issued development approvals for 163 new housing units, of which 117 are 
non-market affordable units.
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PRINCIPLE 3

Quality of Life 
Castlegar is a community that values an exceptional quality of life. With a 
small-town feel, we strive to be a place that people are proud to call home, 
conduct their business in, and have fun in. Our community embraces diversity, 
and values volunteerism and social service agencies. We celebrate a natural 
environment that offers world-class recreational opportunities.

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

	­ Completed public engagement for the Brandson Neighbourhood Park 
Renewal, incorporating community feedback to finalize the park’s design.

	­ Developed comprehensive Dog Park Best Practices guidelines, addressing 
noise, trespass, and safety concerns while improving design, signage, 
and enforcement strategies to enhance user experience and neighbour 
relations.

	­ Completed construction of Canada’s tallest castle play structure at 
Millennium Park & Ponds, funded partly by a $1.2 million grant.

	­ Applied for a $50,000 grant to support the development of a 
Transportation Master Plan to create a roadmap for sustainable and 
efficient multi-modal transportation.

	­ Enhanced the community group funding process to align with Council’s 
strategic priorities, ensuring efficiency, transparency, and targeted 
support.

	­ Secured an $85,000 FireSmart grant and completed 34 property 
assessments, enabling residents to access $39,000 in rebates for 
FireSmart improvements.

	­ Initiated a comprehensive Fire Services Review to support new provincial 
requirements.

	­ Council hosted community events for Canada Day and Winter Wonderland.

	­ Donated the 1952 Mercury Fire Engine, Castlegar’s first brand-new fire 
apparatus, to the Castlegar & District Heritage Society for display at the 
Railway Museum.
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PRINCIPLE 4

West Kootenay Regional Airport Excellence
West Kootenay Regional Airport is the gateway between the West Kootenay 
and the world. It is a catalyst for regional economic growth and opportunities. 
Focused on growing and improving services, West Kootenay Regional Airport 
will be the choice for air travel to the West Kootenay area. We are committed 
to improving reliability and moving beyond the reputation of Cancelgar. We will 
carefully plan for growth and development and build strategic partnerships.

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

	® Received the BC Aviation Council William Templeton Airport Award, recognizing 

advancements in airport development and service improvements.

	® Continued to promote Air Canada’s Flight Disruption Shuttle, ensuring reliable 

travel options for passengers affected by weather-related cancellations.

	® Advanced the Required Navigational Performance (RNP) approach to improve 

flight reliability, accessibility and safety.

	® Supported the Southeast Fire Centre’s expansion at the airport, strengthening 

wildfire response and regional emergency preparedness.

	® Completion of apron expansion and taxiway rehabilitation, increasing 

operational capacity to accommodate larger aircraft.

	® Purchased two airfield maintenance vehicles and one airfield tractor to improve 

reliability and maintain regulatory compliance.

PRINCIPLE 5

Access to Healthcare
Castlegar residents have an inherent right to healthcare. The City is dedicated 
to stepping outside its traditional role to ensure all residents have access to 
the healthcare they need – now and in the future. The City is committed to 
advocating for healthcare in the community and addressing emerging issues.

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

	­ Provided low-cost, secure space to the Kootenay Emergency Response 
Physicians Association (KERPA) at the airport to support regional 
emergency medical services. 

	­ Continued to support ongoing physician recruitment efforts.

	­ Collaborated with local physicians to design future primary care facilities.

	­ Advocated for increased funding for primary care services.
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PRINCIPLE 6

A Prosperous City
Our position as the centre of the West Kootenay creates opportunities 
for diverse economic growth that benefits Castlegar and the region. We 
are committed to creating an environment where all sizes of industry 
and businesses can be successful. We will carefully plan for growth and 
development and build strategic partnerships.

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

	­ Welcomed Kalesnikoff's new facility that expands production of modular 
and pre-fabricated mass timber systems.

	­ Established the Castlegar District Economic Development Program, 
fostering collaboration and coordinating regional growth.

	­ Supported the Confluence, a new $8.7 million, 8,300-square-foot multi-
use building designed to drive economic growth, boost tourism, support 
local businesses and serve as the West Kootenay Gateway Visitor Centre.

	­ Achieved consistent growth in business licences, reflecting increased 
business activity in the community.
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Message from the Mayor
This year showed what’s possible when strategic priorities and 
community input shape real, meaningful progress.

As we look back on 2024, I’m reminded of the strength and character that define our 
community. Castlegar continues to be a place where people show up, whether to share 
feedback, support a neighbour, contribute to decision-making, or volunteer their time to 
help the city grow in the right direction.

Serving as your mayor is both a responsibility and a privilege. Council remained focused 
on the goals outlined in our Strategic Plan, with clear priorities around housing, 
healthcare, the West Kootenay Regional Airport, economic development, and quality of 
life. These are not just issues we discuss at the Council table; they are the real, everyday 
challenges and opportunities our residents experience.

Community engagement was at the heart of many initiatives this year, including 
launching our updated Community Plan. Through events, conversations, and 
opportunities to “say your way to 2033,” hundreds of residents shared ideas that 
are shaping how Castlegar will grow, protect its natural assets, and strengthen 
neighbourhoods over the next decade.

We also celebrated progress, reinforcing Castlegar’s role as a connected, resilient, and 
economically vibrant community. Recognition from the BC Aviation Council underscored 
advancements at the West Kootenay Regional Airport, while strategic partnerships, 
including our work with Kalesnikoff Mass Timber, drive growth and create new 
opportunities for residents.

National recognition through Communities in Bloom reflected our commitment to 
sustainable public spaces, including enhancements at Millennium Park & Ponds. These 
achievements show how thoughtful planning, strong leadership, and community 
involvement continue to move Castlegar in the right direction.

The Annual Report provides a clear picture of the City’s progress, including major 
projects, strategic priorities, and audited financial statements, and shows how 
community input continues to influence our work.

Thank you to our community members, Council, and staff for another year of moving 
Castlegar forward.

Regards,

Mayor Maria McFaddin
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City Councillors
The City is governed by a Mayor and six Councillors, elected for a four-year term. 
The current Mayor and Council will serve until Fall 2026.

Councillor Darcy Bell
Darcy Bell was elected to Council in 2022. Councillor 
Bell is dedicated to fostering diversity, inclusion, and 
creative planning for the sake of his constituents, 
neighbours, and family – including his wife Amy, 
daughters, son in law and extended family in the 
area. He is enthusiastic about the future and what 
can be accomplished by Castlegar’s Council.

Councillor Brian Bogle
Deputy Mayor

Brian Bogle was elected to Council in 2021. 
Councillor Bogle and his wife moved to Castlegar 
in 2005. They have a daughter and a son, two 
granddaughters and a grandson. Councillor Bogle 
managed the Castlegar Safeway from 2005 to 
September 2019 when he retired after 43 years of 
service with Safeway in various locations in the 
Interior of BC.
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Councillor Shirley Falstead
Shirley Falstead was elected in 2022 and has 
owned several businesses, including an organic 
farm, market garden, and Spruce River Research, 
which focuses on economic development. She has 
developed tourism strategies, attracted industry, 
and identified opportunities for communities. She 
is skilled in evaluating business plans and managing 
financial and environmental risks.

Councillor Sandy Bojechko
Sandy Bojechko, a grandmother and 30-year 
Castlegar area resident, has actively participated in the 
community as a scorekeeper and billet mom for the 
Castlegar Rebels. As President of the West Kootenay 
Labour Council, she enjoys advocating for people. 
With a background as a paralegal and experience 
owning three businesses, she is dedicated to listening 
to and acting on behalf of her community.

Councillor Cherryl MacLeod
Cherryl MacLeod and her husband, Murray, have 
four children and five grandchildren. She has 
been an active community volunteer, coaching 
sports and participating in the Parent Advisory 
Council, Community Justice Program, and Kootenay 
Festival. She enjoys gardening and baking with her 
grandchildren. Councillor MacLeod has worked as 
a Child and Youth Care Worker in the school system 
for 27 years.

Councillor Sue  
Heaton-Sherstobitoff
Sue Heaton-Sherstobitoff has lived in Castlegar 
since 1988. She and her husband Curtis have two 
daughters. Councillor Heaton-Sherstobitoff has an 
extensive history of volunteering from chairing the 
Selkirk College Foundation Board, to President of 
Selkirk Challengers Gymnastics Club to fundraising 
for Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation.
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Committees & Senior Staff
The City of Castlegar has eight Standing Committees of Council that 
serve as advisory bodies to Council, pursuant to the Community Charter. 
Members of Council are appointed annually by the Mayor and serve as 
liaisons to various community groups, organizations and societies.
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Community Wellness and  
Social Services

	­ Chair, Councillor Bell

	­ Deputy Chair,  
Councillor Bojechko

	­ Deputy Chair, Councillor 
Heaton-Sherstobitoff

Cultural and Civic Pride

	­ Chair, Councillor Heaton-
Sherstobitoff

	­ Deputy Chair, Councillor Bogle

	­ Deputy Chair,  
Councillor MacLeod

Finance & Corporate Services

	­ Chair, Councillor Bogle

	­ Deputy Chair,  
Councillor Falstead

Municipal Services

	­ Chair, Councillor MacLeod

	­ Deputy Chair, Councillor Bell

Stage IV Labour/ 
Management Committee

	­ Chair, Mayor McFaddin

	­ Member, Councillor MacLeod

	­ Member, Councillor Bogle

Senior Staff

	­ Director of Finance & Chief 
Financial Officer, 
Ola Oladele

	­ Director of Corporate Services, 
Bree Seabrook

	­ Director of Municipal Services, 
Chris Hallam

	­ Chief Administrative Officer, 
Chris Barlow

	­ Director of Protective Services 
& Fire Chief, 
Sam Lattanzio
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From the Chief 
Administrative Officer
2024 was a year of balancing a changing landscape while turning 
well-developed plans into meaningful action. 

The City of Castlegar continues to be guided by strong planning, developing community-
informed master plans, such as our Community Plan, Fire Services Review and Parks 
Plan, and implementing them to meet current and future needs. This approach ensures 
we respond to today’s challenges and lay the foundation for a resilient tomorrow.

In a year marked by high inflation and increasing regulations from other levels of 
government, we maintained consistent debt levels and kept reserve amounts 
stable. Our Infrastructure Investment Levy, now in its sixth year of seven, has been 
instrumental in ensuring the City can continue investing in critical infrastructure.

The City also took steps to enhance services and use resources more effectively. The 
permanent closure of the Yard Waste Facility reflects the success of the curbside 
organics program, which has diverted 61% of household waste from the landfill. This 
transition streamlines operations, reduces costs, and directs staff and equipment 
toward other essential services that benefit the community.

Healthcare and housing remained significant priorities in 2024. We continued to 
advocate for improved access to primary care and collaborated with local physicians to 
advance plans for future healthcare facilities. These efforts complement our ongoing 
initiatives to address the housing crisis, reduce barriers to development, and ensure a 
mix of housing options that meet community needs.

I am proud to share some of the progress made in 2024:

	­ Advocated for improved access to primary care and collaborated with local 
physicians to design future primary care facilities.

	­ Adopted Community Plan 2033 following meaningful public input from more than 
800 residents.

	­ Approved development for 163 new homes, including 117 non-market affordable 
housing units.

	­ Launched an Accessory Dwelling Program to encourage infill development.

	­ Implemented a new zoning bylaw to support a wider mix of housing types.
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	­ Completed Canada’s tallest castle play structure at Millennium Park & Ponds.

	­ Conducted meaningful engagement to guide renewal planning for Brandson Park.

	­ Installed a biosolids Geotube system at the South Sewage Treatment Plant to 
improve operational efficiency and environmental performance.

	­ Secured funding to assess the North Well as a potential backup water source, 
supporting water system resilience.

	­ Initiated a Fire Services Review to align with new provincial requirements and better 
protect our community.

	­ Renewed the City’s agreement with Recycle BC, reducing local costs and enhancing 
recycling services.

	­ Completed apron expansion and taxiway rehabilitation at the West Kootenay 
Regional Airport.

	­ Developed Dog Park Best Practices to guide future improvements and enhance the 
experience for residents and their pets.

Our progress this year reflects the dedication of all City staff—both those on the front 
lines and behind the scenes. Whether maintaining essential services, advancing complex 
projects, or ensuring smooth daily operations, their commitment drives our success. 
Together, we have created a culture of excellence that allows us to adapt and thrive 
despite evolving challenges.

I also want to thank Council for its leadership and Castlegar residents for their continued 
support and engagement.

I encourage you to explore this Annual Report and see how we invest in the community 
we proudly call home.

Regards,

Chris Barlow

 
Chief Administrative Officer
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Corporate 
Services
The City of Castlegar’s Corporate Services Department oversees 
Human Resources, Legislative Services (including Bylaw 
Enforcement), Health and Safety, and Communications.

The department ensures the effective and efficient overall management of the City’s 
administrative operations, supporting the organization and the community.

Corporate Services provides legislative and procedural support to Council and the 
Chief Administrative Officer, manages protocol and legal matters, coordinates records 
management, publishes official notices, administers local government and school 
district elections, and responds to requests under the Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act.

Legislative Services prepares and distributes Council agendas and minutes, maintains 
bylaws, policies, and contracts, enforces bylaws, and ensures City processes align with 
legislative requirements and best practices.

Human Resources (HR) supports approximately 70 employees through the full 
employment cycle from recruitment and retention initiatives, wellness and engagement, 
labour relations, collective agreement administration, performance management, 
employee recognition, job evaluations, employee compensation and benefits, and 
training and development.

Health and Safety develops and implements safe work procedures, coordinates safety 
training, conducts workplace inspections, manages return-to-work programs, and 
promotes employee wellness initiatives. The program also includes creating and 
maintaining specialized safety initiatives such as heat stress prevention, ergonomics 
programs, and hazard-specific response plans to ensure a safe and healthy workplace.

The department also manages the City’s communications and engagement, delivering 
timely, accurate, and accessible information to residents and creating opportunities 
for meaningful public participation. This includes strategic communications planning, 
sharing important information, creating awareness of City initiatives and decision-
making, strengthening the City’s reputation, and developing engagement programs to 
ensure community-guided City decisions.

Key Stats

121
Reports 

reviewed

15
Bylaws  

adopted

22
Jobs posted

112+
Council 
meeting 

hours

144
Facebook 

posts made

497
New 

followers 
gained
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2024 Accomplishments 2025 Priorities

	­ Administered the School District 20 Trustee 
Area 2 By-Election.

	­ Supported Council with agendas, minutes, and 
meeting materials.

	­ Advanced Records Information Management 
through department file clean-up and 
alignment with Local Government Management 
Association (LGMA) standards.

	­ Delivered communications and engagement for 
key projects, including Brandson Park Renewal, 
Liquid Waste Management Plan, and other 
public awareness campaigns.

	­ Added a dedicated HR staff for approximately 
70 employees, including recruitment, 
onboarding, performance planning, employee 
wellness benefits, and labour relations.

	­ Implemented health and safety initiatives, 
including a Heat Stress Program.

	­ Implement Phase 1 of the Electronic 
Records Information Management system 
with staff training.

	­ Review and update bylaws to ensure 
compliance and relevance.

	­ Advance the Health & Safety Program 
towards legislative compliance.

	­ Create a new onboarding program for all staff.

	­ Develop a new Bullying & Harassment 
program and corresponding training for 
all staff.

	­ Deliver communications and engagement 
plans for priority City projects, ensuring 
decisions are guided by community input.

	­ Maintain and use the Annual 
Communications Activity Calendar for 
cross-departmental coordination.

	­ Support corporate initiatives and ensure 
compliance with policies, the Collective 
Agreement, and legislation.
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Development 
Services
Development Services guides Castlegar's growth and evolution, ensuring the community 
is connected, inclusive, resilient, and sustainable. The department oversees long-range 
planning, land-use regulation, business licensing, building inspection, and community 
development initiatives. This work is grounded in the City’s Community Plan and delivered 
through collaboration with staff, agencies, community groups, and residents.

2024 Accomplishments

	­ Adopted the City’s new Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw (Bylaws 1427 and 1428) 
in July 2024.

	­ Launched the Accessory Dwelling Unit Program (ADU), which includes user-friendly 
web tools, guides, and in-person support to help residents build additional housing 
on existing lots.

	­ Developed Best Practices Guidelines for dog parks in consultation with the community.

	­ Completed an updated Interim Housing Needs Report aligned with new 
provincial requirements.

2025 Priorities

	­ Monitor the Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw implementation and evaluate 
impacts on growth and development.

	­ Promote the Accessory Dwelling Unit Program and build additional capacity to 
support infill housing.

	­ Develop regulatory tools to support parking management in the downtown and 
uptown areas.

	­ Continue enhancing dog park signage and public education at Millennium Park & Ponds.

	­ Support new housing starts in alignment with identified community needs.

Key Stats

781
Business 
Licences 

issued

126
Building 
permits 

issued with a 
construction 
value of $17.7 

million

$520k
Typical 

assessed value 
of a single-

family home

2nd
Building 
Official  

recruited to 
streamline 

development 
approvals
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Launched Accessory Dwelling Unit Program
The City launched its Accessory Dwelling Unit Program, helping property owners 

build attached and detached suites to increase housing supply. This initiative 
supports provincial direction to enable up to four units per lot in urban areas and 
encourages gentle infill across Castlegar’s neighbourhoods. With easy-to-follow 

development guides, web-based resources, and direct support from staff, the 
program is already generating new interest, permits, and momentum toward 

more diverse housing options in the city.
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Key Stats

62
Permits issued 

for work on 
City lands

78
Water meter 
investigations 

53
Fleet vehicles 

and heavy 
equipment 

units

7
New service 

install 
requests

5.5
Weeks  

repairing 
potholes

27
Water leaks 

repaired

Municipal 
Services
Municipal Services develops and maintains the City’s  
infrastructure and municipal facilities.

Operational areas include roads, sewers, water, parks, fleet, facilities and solid waste. 
Through the technical expertise and skill of more than thirty individuals, this team 
implements the City’s policies, and bylaws. The department plans, designs, constructs 
and maintains all City-owned assets with effective coordination to enhance and 
maintain service delivery to the community in a cost-effective manner. In addition, the 
department provides professional services and advice to Council, the public, and the 
development/building industry on a broad range of items related to planning, building, 
capital construction, maintenance and operations. The department provides policy and 
strategic advice to Council and the Chief Administrative Officer.
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2024 Accomplishments 2025 Priorities

	­ Purchased a loader and vacuum truck to 
enhance Civic Works operations.

	­ Installed a new UV disinfection system at the 
North Treatment Lagoons to improve treated 
wastewater quality.

	­ Completed construction of Canada’s tallest 
castle play structure at Millennium Park & 
Ponds, supported by a $1.2 million grant.

	­ Completed public engagement for the 
Brandson Neighbourhood Park Renewal.

	­ Applied for a $50,000 Transportation Master 
Plan grant to guide sustainable multi-modal 
transportation.

	­ Initiate key infrastructure projects, including 
the South Sewage Treatment Plant 
(SSTP) North Train Renewal, pavement 
rehabilitation, and drainage improvements.

	­ Implement the updated UV disinfection 
system at the North Treatment lagoons, 
update mapping, and complete the uni-
directional flushing of the water system for 
the south end of Castlegar’s drinking water 
distribution system.

	­ Deliver upgrades to the utility SCADA 
system to address aging communications 
infrastructure and improve overall system 
efficiency.

	­ Develop and implement the new Geospatial 
Information System (GIS) program.

	­ Update safe work procedures and 
emergency response plans, and strengthen 
compliance with WorkSafeBC, Interior 
Health, and environmental standards.

	­ Implement the Fleet Replacement Plan 
and complete priority facility condition and 
security assessments, ensuring City-owned 
assets are safe, reliable, and cost-effective.

	­ Advance the Liquid Waste Management Plan 
(LWMP) by completing Stage 1 in 2025 and 
preparing for Stage 2 in 2026, ensuring long-
term planning and investment in sanitary 
and storm sewer infrastructure.
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Key Stats

876
Service calls

2
Wildfire 

deployments: 
Argenta and 

Slocan

42nd
Annual Toy 

Drive donated to 
Food Bank 

20
Years in 

Community 
Safety Net fire 

prevention 
program

$500
Bursary 

awarded to 
Stanley 

Humphries 
student

Protective 
Services
Castlegar Fire Department operates out of a centrally located 
fire station at 2161 6th Avenue that was built in 1999 and a 
satellite station located at the West Kootenay Regional Airport. 
The department consists of a Fire Chief, two Deputy Fire Chiefs 
and 29 Paid-On-Call Officers and Firefighters. 

This group of dedicated personnel represents the diversity of the community and 
works every day of the year to ensure the service provides high-quality fire protection 
and life safety to meet the needs of the community. Our values are diversity, respect, 
trust, equality, and teamwork. Our team members are our most valuable assets, and 
we strive for excellence.
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Advanced wildfire mitigation efforts in 
Millennium Park 

In 2024, the Castlegar Fire Department and Selkirk College advanced wildfire mitigation 
efforts in Millennium Park. This multi-phase partnership includes hands-on student 
learning, expert prescription work, and fire risk reduction in one of Castlegar’s most 

beloved green spaces. Phase 1 was completed in 2024, and work will continue over the 
next few years, demonstrating the City’s leadership in wildfire preparedness and 

educational collaboration.

2024 Accomplishments 2025 Priorities

	­ Completed Phase 1 of wildfire prescription and 
mitigation work at Millennium Park & Ponds 
with Selkirk College.

	­ Completed a tabletop Emergency Operations 
Centre exercise for City staff.

	­ Continued commercial and business 
inspections; implemented Fire Inspector and 
Investigator roles per the Fire Safety Act.

	­ Participated in Fire Prevention Week’s 
provincial contest, with Castlegar students 
representing 10% of all entries and one local 
student winning a prize for his entry.

	­ Continue Phase 2 wildfire mitigation and 
prescription work at Millennium Park & 
Ponds with Selkirk College.

	­ Transition FireSmart program delivery to City 
staff, supported by a new Wildfire Mitigation 
Specialist and Climate Readiness Coordinator.

	­ Launch a self-compliance inspection 
program for low-risk businesses and 
develop a hazard classification system.

	­ Update the Fire Services Bylaw to reflect 
the Fire Safety Act.

	­ Advance implementation of the Fire 
Services and Emergency Management 
Review recommendations, including 
recruitment, flexible training, and a tiered 
Paid-On-Call compensation model.

	­ Deliver further emergency and 
wildfire training in partnership with 
provincial agencies.

	­ Deliver advanced training programs, 
including Live Fire training in Kamloops, 
Rescue Canada Ropes course, and First 
Responder Instructor certification.

	­ Host S231 Engine Boss and SPP-115 Structure 
Protection courses with BC Wildfire Service.
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West Kootenay 
Regional Airport
The West Kootenay Regional Airport is owned and  
operated by the City of Castlegar.

The Airport provides vital air travel services to the entire West Kootenay region and 
is a key driver of regional economic development. The airport supports commercial 
air travel, general aviation, medevac services, and wildfire response through the 
Southeast Fire Centre. Focused on improving reliability, enhancing passenger 
experience, and planning for growth, the West Kootenay Regional Airport is the 
region’s connection to the world.

Key Stats

95%
Winter 

reliability  
when 

factoring in 
the Air Canada 

bus service 

2024
Completed 

Apron 
rehabilitation 
and taxiway 

extension

32,219 
Total 

passengers 
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Awarded the William Templeton Airport Award.
In 2024, the West Kootenay Regional Airport was honoured with the William 

Templeton Airport Award from the BC Aviation Council. This prestigious award 
recognizes outstanding achievement in the development of a community airport and 

reflects years of strategic effort to improve reliability, infrastructure, and passenger 
experience. The award celebrates projects like the Air Canada Flight Disruption Shuttle, 
ongoing RNP advancement, and the soon-to-begin terminal expansion—solidifying the 

airport’s role as a regional connector and catalyst for economic opportunity.

2024 Accomplishments 2025 Priorities

	­ Achieved 97.5% same-itinerary completion 
with the continuation of Air Canada’s Flight 
Disruption Shuttle (bus).

	­ Received the BC Aviation Council’s William 
Templeton Airport Award for development and 
service advancements.

	­ Acquired two new airfield vehicles and a 
tractor to improve operational reliability and 
regulatory compliance.

	­ Completed apron rehabilitation and taxiway 
extension to accommodate larger Q400 aircraft.

	­ Benchmarked carbon emissions to 
support future grant applications for 
green infrastructure.

	­ Supported Southeast Fire Centre expansion 
to enhance regional wildfire response and 
emergency preparedness.

	­ Established an internal team and project charter 
for terminal building expansion planning.

	­ Begin detailed design and procurement for 
the terminal building redevelopment.

	­ Advance Required Navigational 
Performance (RNP) regulatory approvals 
with industry partners.

	­ Modernize the airport certification program 
to streamline compliance.

	­ Implement findings from the Airport 
Service Quality (ASQ) survey to improve the 
passenger experience.

	­ Continue to explore long-term lease 
opportunities for premium airside land.

	­ Finalize a general aviation development 
concept to attract investment.

	­ Pursue grant funding aligned with green 
infrastructure and emission reduction goals.
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Finance & 
Technology
The Finance and Technology Department provides financial 
expertise, risk management, technology systems, and guidance to 
support all City operations. 

The Finance and Technology Department provides financial expertise, risk management, 
technology systems, and guidance to support all City operations. In addition to leading 
process improvements, it sets and maintains best financial and security practices, policies 
and standards. This department’s core services include: accounting services, budgeting, 
long-range financial planning, revenue services, procurement & risk management, network 
security, asset management, and business software development.

2024 Technology Accomplishments

	­ Upgraded all City computers to Windows 11 with new hardware.

	­ Renewed mobility contracts, reducing roaming charges and improving 
cellular service.

	­ Upgraded backup server for faster and more reliable data recovery.

	­ Replaced phone system hardware and software to ensure consistent, high-
quality communication.

	­ Continued implementation of the City’s IT Master Plan, led by a Managed Service 
Provider, Sea to Sky.

2025 Technology Priorities

	­ Complete the transition to SharePoint as part of the Records Information 
Management system.

	­ Replace firewall and switch equipment to improve internet security and 
network reliability.

	­ Upgrade security camera server for municipal facilities.

	­ Replace remaining aging laptops and access points to support mobile work and 
wireless connectivity.

	­ Continue implementation of the IT Master Plan with oversight from a virtual Chief 
Information Officer.

Key Stats

72
Computers 
maintained

17
Servers

40
Smart phones 

and tablets 
maintained

85
Office phones 

maintained

22
Printers 

maintained

13,465
Utility Bills

3,159
Active Utility 

accounts

3,979
Property Tax 

notices
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2024 Finance Accomplishments 2025 Finance Priorities

	­ Converted Columbia Avenue Phase 2 project 
borrowing to long-term debt, securing a lower 
interest rate of 4.03%.

	­ Enhanced the community group funding 
process, aligning support with Council’s 
strategic priorities, and improving transparency 
and efficiency.

	­ Continued implementation of the Finance 
Workplan, including progress on procurement 
policy updates, accounts payable 
modernization, and initial steps toward 
automating financial reporting.

	­ Update Procurement Policy 3-1 to modernize 
the City’s centralized purchasing processes 
and ensure consistency, transparency, and 
alignment with best practices.

	­ Develop an Asset Disposal policy to guide the 
responsible and cost-effective management 
of surplus or end-of-life City assets.

	­ Introduce a Credit Card policy that 
establishes clear standards for usage, 
monitoring, and accountability to strengthen 
financial controls.

	­ Streamline the accounts payable process by 
implementing automation tools, improving 
efficiency, accuracy, and turnaround times.

	­ Review and update the stormwater funding 
model to create a sustainable long-term 
approach for maintaining infrastructure and 
meeting asset renewal needs.

	­ Finalize and execute new service 
agreements for community groups to 
provide clarity, accountability, and alignment 
with Council’s strategic funding priorities.

	­ Develop a Tax Class Distribution policy 
to ensure a fair, transparent, and well-
researched allocation of property tax 
revenues across all property classes.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

 

 

 

To the Mayor and Council of  
City of Castlegar 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of City of Castlegar (the “City”), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the statements of operations, change in net financial 
assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of City of Castlegar as at December 31, 2024, and its results of operations, its changes in its 
net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other Matters   

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a 
whole. Schedules 1 – 3 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of 
the financial statements. Such supplemental information has not been subject to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
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audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a 
whole. Schedules 1 – 3 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of 
the financial statements. Such supplemental information has not been subject to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
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Statements   
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management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Castlegar, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
August 25, 2025 
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR

Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Budget Actual Actual

2024 2024 2023

note 19

REVENUES

Taxation, note 10 $ 12,600,207     $ 12,890,855     $ 12,083,707    

Government transfers, note 16 8,775,444       3,250,477       6,730,802      

Fees and service charges, note 10 5,477,774       7,044,300       6,377,075      

Community works funding 585,000          443,073          429,851         

Developer contributions -                     2,094,807       166,195         

Other revenue 1,307,800       1,383,464       1,128,229      

Gain on sale of tangible capital assets -                     64,634            4,710             

Interest and other investment income 130,760          1,229,975       1,230,552      

28,876,985     28,401,585     28,151,121    

EXPENSES, note 15

General government 3,990,538       3,860,525       3,578,291      

Environmental development 1,042,151       674,852          831,207         

Transportation and civic works 3,812,763       4,085,150       3,501,218      

Waste disposal and recycling 1,293,547       1,170,033       1,280,045      

Protection 3,558,867       4,467,776       3,620,517      

Public health and welfare 230,810          179,795          308,462         

Recreation and culture 1,725,461       1,871,201       1,502,049      

Water system 1,593,471       1,431,719       1,350,242      

Sewer system 1,439,067       1,383,152       1,486,466      

Storm system 193,132          196,728          113,476         

Airport 1,599,918       1,670,707       1,579,082      

Interest on long term debt and agreements payable 3,000              604,981          530,077         

Amortization 3,862,000       4,521,652       4,414,957      

Accretion, note 21 -                     -                     56,892           

24,344,725     26,118,271     24,152,981    

Annual surplus 4,532,260       2,283,314       3,998,140      

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 90,136,109     90,136,109     86,137,969    

Accumulated surplus, end of year, note 9 $ 94,668,369     $ 92,419,423     $ 90,136,109    

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part to

 these financial statements



CITY OF CASTLEGAR    38

CITY OF CASTLEGAR

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Budget Actual Actual

2024 2024 2023

note 19

Annual surplus $ 4,532,260       $ 2,283,314        $ 3,998,140     

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (19,090,042)    (12,956,409)    (2,570,252)    

Work in progress, construction of tangible capital assets -                      1,892,933        (1,669,534)    

Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,862,000       4,521,652        4,414,957     

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets -                      234,514           10,369          

(Gain) on disposition of tangible capital assets -                      (64,634)           (4,710)           

Change in prepaid expense -                      (69,215)           (78,844)         

Increase (Decrease) in Net Financial Assets (10,695,782)    (4,157,845)      4,100,126     

Net Financial Assets, beginning of year 6,517,539       6,517,539        2,417,413     

Net Financial Assets, end of year $ (4,178,243)      $ 2,359,694        $ 6,517,539     

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part to

 these financial statements
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Cash provided by (used for) :

Operating Activities

$ 2,283,314       $ 3,998,140     

4,521,652       4,414,957     

(64,634)           (4,710)           

Annual surplus

Change in non cash items:

Amortization

Gain on disposition of tangible capital assets 
Increase in pre-paid expenses (69,215)           (78,844)         

Change in financial assets and liabilities:

(2,203,343)      (2,404,982)    

1,458,949       (1,178,804)    

156,389          524,239        

246,743          169,720        

Increase in taxes and accounts receivable 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Increase in deferred revenue

Increase in holdbacks, refundable and other deposits Increase 

Increase in asset retirement obligations - 56,892

6,329,855       5,496,608     

Investing Activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets and work in progress (11,063,476)    (4,239,786)    

Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 234,514          10,369          

(10,828,962)    (4,229,417)    

Financing activities

Proceeds from temporary borrowing 5,000,000       -

Repayment of temporary borrowing (5,000,000)      -

Proceeds from long-term borrowing 1,000,000       -

Repayment of long-term borrowing (210,674)         (205,139)       

Proceeds from equipment financing 3,054,018       -

Repayment of equipment financing (77,986)           -

3,765,358       (205,139)       

(Decrease) increase in cash (733,749)         1,062,052     

Cash and investment deposits, beginning of year 22,119,192     21,057,140   

Cash and investment deposits, end of year $ 21,385,443     $ 22,119,192   

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part to

 these financial statements
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Nature of Operations

Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies of the City:

a) Basis of Presentation

b) Investment deposits are recorded at cost.

c) Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost, determined on a first in, first out basis, or replacement cost.

d) Tangible capital assets

Asset Rate

Buildings 10 - 70 years
Roads and road features 15 - 50 years
Water 10 - 60 years
Storm sewers 40 - 50 years
Parks and recreation 5 - 25 years
Traffic control and lighting including airport hazard beacons 15 years
Vehicles and equipment 6 - 25 years
Sanitary sewers 5 - 50 years
Fibre optics cable 20 years
Furniture and office equipment 10 years
Technology and computer equipment 5 - 10 years
Other 5 - 40 years

e) Use of Estimates

The Corporation of the City of Castlegar (the “City”) is incorporated by Letters Patent under the laws of British Columbia and its principal 
activities include the provision of local government services to residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, 
infrastructure, environmental, planning, building, recreational, waterworks, sanitary sewer and storm services.

The financial statements of the City of Castlegar are the responsibility of, and prepared by, management in accordance with Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS).  The financial statements include the result of operations for all functions.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimated amounts. Significant areas 
requiring the use of management estimates include the determination of the estimated useful life of tangible capital assets, asset retirement 
obligations, and accrued liabilities included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense. Betterments which extend the estimated life of an asset and enhance the service 
potential of capital assets are capitalized.

When a tangible capital asset no longer contributes to the City's ability to provide services, its carrying amount is written down to its residual 
value with no reversals of such write downs in subsequent periods. 

The City holds and maintains a collection of nineteen sculptures as works of art. Works of art, artifacts, cultural and historical assets are not 
recorded as assets in the financial statements.

Purchased or constructed tangible capital assets are recorded at cost in the period they are put into use. The cost of a tangible capital asset 
includes the purchase price and other acquisition costs such as installation costs, design and engineering fees, legal fees, survey costs, site 
preparation costs, freight charges, transportation, insurance costs, and duties. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value 
at the date of the contribution. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:



41    ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f) Financial Instruments

g) Expenses

h) Budget Figures

i) Basis of Accounting

j) Revenue recognition

k) Government transfers

l) Contaminated sites

Transaction costs related to financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are added to the carrying value of the financial 
instrument.  Transaction costs related to financial instruments recorded at their fair values are expensed as incurred. 

Financial liabilities (or part of a financial liability) are removed from the statement of financial position when, and only when, they are 
discharged, cancelled or expire.

Management has assessed its potential liabilities including, sites that are no longer in productive use and sites which the City accepts 
responsibility. There are no such sites that had contamination in excess of an environmental standard which required remediation at this 
time, therefore no liability was recognized as at December 31, 2024.

Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal 
obligation to pay.

The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

Unrestricted grants and contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.  

Restricted grants or contributions received under funding agreements which relate to a subsequent period are recognized as revenue in the 
period in which the resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified. Funding received before this criterion has been met, is 
reported as deferred revenue on the statement of financial position until the period in which the specified purpose or related expense is 
incurred.

Taxation revenue is recognized as revenue in the year it is levied.  Fees and service charges and other revenue are recognized when the 
services are rendered.

Community works funding is recognized when received or receivable.

Interest and other investment income is recorded on the accrual basis and recognized when earned.

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which events giving rise to 
the transfers occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amount can 
be made.

Accrued liabilities for the costs to remediate a contaminated site are recognized when an environmental standard exists, contamination 
exceeds the standard, the City has responsibility for remediation, future economic benefits will be given up and a reasonable estimate can 
be made.

All financial instruments are recorded at their cost or amortized cost except for portfolio investments in equity instruments quoted in an active 
market and derivatives which are recorded at their fair value with unrealized remeasurement gains and losses recorded in the statement of 
remeasurement gains and losses (if applicable).  Once realized, remeasurement gains and losses are transferred to the statement of 
operations. Changes in the fair value on restricted assets are recognized as a liability until the criterion attached to the restrictions has been 
met, upon which the gain or loss is recognized in the statement of operations.

The budget figures are from the Annual Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw adopted by May 15 of each year.  Subsequent amendments to the 
Five Year Financial Plan may have been made by Council to reflect budgetary changes as required by Council.

The City's financial instruments consist of cash and investment deposits; taxes and accounts receivable; accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities; holdbacks, refundable, and other deposits; long term debt; and asset retirement obligations. 

Transactions where goods or services are provided for consideration include performance obligations to a specific payor. Revenue from 
these transactions is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied. Transactions without performance obligations are recognized 
when the revenue is received or receivable. 
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

m) Asset Retirement Obligation

1 Cash and Investment Deposits

2 Taxes and Accounts Receivable

2024 2023

Taxes, current $ 441,418           $ 668,764           
Taxes, arrears 224,885           168,829           
Province of British Columbia (7,583)              (7,271)              
Federal Government 263,374           166,273           
Other Receivables 6,112,660        3,834,816        

$ 7,034,754        $ 4,831,411        

3 Deposit and Reserve - Municipal Finance Authority

2024 2023

Demand notes $ 69,387             $ 69,387             
Cash deposits 41,515             41,515             

$ 110,902           $ 110,902           

4 Contingencies

Regional District of Central Kootenay Debt

Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act  and the Community Charter , a 
direct joint and severable liability of the District and each City within the District, including the City of Castlegar.

Claims for Damages

Certain claims, suits, and complaints arising in the ordinary course of operations have been filed or are pending against
the City of Castlegar. The City cannot predict, with any certainty, the outcome of such litigation. Management is of the opinion,
based upon information presently available, that it is unlikely that any liability, to the extent not provided through insurance
or otherwise, would be material in relation to the City's financial position.

A liability is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date:
(a)     there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset;
(b)     the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred;
(c)     it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
(d)     a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The liability for the removal of asbestos and other hazardous material in several of the buildings owned by the City has been initially 
recognized using the modified retroactive method.  The liability has been measured using a discount rate equal to MFA's long term lending 
rate.  The resulting costs have been capitalized into the carrying amount of tangible capital assets and are being amortized on the same 
basis as the related tangible capital asset. Assumptions used in the calculations are reviewed annually.

Cash and investment deposits are held in Canadian Chartered Bank current bank accounts earning interest at a rate of prime minus 1.75% 
and in a short-term Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) money market fund. Included in cash and investment deposits is $2,771,883 (2023 - 
$2,199,752) held for statutory reserves.

The City issues its debt instruments through the MFA.  As a condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds are 
withheld by the MFA as a debt reserve fund.  The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the City 
may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA.  The details of the cash deposits and demand notes at year end are as follows:

The Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation (CDIC) insures each of the Canadian Chartered Bank current accounts up to $100,000. The 
aggregate funds held in one account may exceed the CDIC insured limit from time to time and funds held by the institution may not be 
covered by CDIC insurance. The MFA money market funds are not insured. Management does not anticipate any material effect on the 
financial position of the City as a result of this concentration.
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

5 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2024 2023

Province of British Columbia $ 63,094             $ 28,841             
Regional and other levels of government 31,880             210,636           
Other payables 3,506,152        1,971,700        
Wages, vacation, sick and banked liabilities 1,057,160        988,160           

$ 4,658,286        $ 3,199,337        

6 Deferred Revenue

a)
2024 2023

Development cost charges, note 11 $ 2,160,618        $ 2,117,108        
Prepaid taxes 1,004,183        1,020,081        
Prepaid utility rates 78,884             47,273             
Other 153,474           56,308             

$ 3,397,159        $ 3,240,770        

b) Restricted flows

In "Other" Deferred Revenue is certain government transfers with certain restrictions that have not been realized in fiscal 2024. 
Deferred Revenues will be recognized in the year that the approved project is undertaken. The following provides a summary
of funds received that are included in "Other" Deferred Revenue on the Statement of Financial Position.

FireSmart 
Community

Next 
Generation 911

Local 
Government 

Housing 
Initiative

Various small 
grants

December 31, 2023 $ 26,126            $ 22,500             $ -                       $ 7,682               
Externally restricted inflows -                      -                       189,154           4,800               
Revenue earned (26,126)           -                       (67,952)            (2,710)              

December 31, 2024 $ -                      $ 22,500             $ 121,202           $ 9,772               

7 Equipment Financing Loans, Long-Term Debt and Temporary Borrowing

a) Equipment Financing Loans

2024 2023

Monthly installments of $2,769, maturing in 2029 $ 133,984           $ -                       
Monthly installments of $2,621, maturing in 2029 134,782           -                       
Monthly installments of $8,936, maturing in 2029 460,625           -                       
Monthly installments of $11,952, maturing in 2029 645,018           -                       
Monthly installments of $11,453, maturing in 2029 1,601,623        -                       

$ 2,976,032        $ -                       

Equipment financing loans are demand loans payable to the MFA in monthly installments with an interest rate based on the Canadian 
Dealer Offered Rate, which at December 31, 2024 was 4.05%. They are repayable in blended monthly principal and interest payments and 
are approved under section 175 of the Community Charter. The following equipment loans are outstanding:



CITY OF CASTLEGAR    44

CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

7 Equipment Financing Loans, Long-Term Debt and Temporary Borrowing (continued)

b) Long-Term Debt and Temporary Borrowing

2024 2023

$ 6,200,000        6,200,000        

702,089           735,694           

767,720           799,553           

2,619,791        2,714,449

1,451,578        1,502,156        

1,000,000        -                       

$ 12,741,178      $ 11,951,852      

c) Future Payments

Principal

2025 $ 570,640           
2026 6,831,582        
2027 650,345           
2028 669,537           
2029 1,755,829        
Thereafter and actuarial 5,239,277        

$ 15,717,210      

Temporary borrowing repayable to MFA, matures in the year 2026

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $41,790 in April 
(principal & interest) and $9,648 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 
the year 2041 and annual interest payable is $19,297

The City issues debt instruments through the MFA, pursuant to loan security issuing bylaws under the authority of section 179 of the Local 
Government Act, to finance certain capital expenditures. Debenture debt principal is disclosed net of sinking fund balances managed by the 
MFA. Interest on long-term debt is charged on the original issue amount of the loan throughout the term of the loan.

The City has temporary borrowing through the MFA. Temporary borrowing financing agreements provide cash flow for ongoing projects, with 
a maximum term of five years during which the regular principal payments are not required. These loans must either be repaid or converted 
to long-term borrowing through a debenture issue at maturity, with interest at a variable rate calculated daily and payable monthly. The 
interest rate as at December 31, 2024 was 4.05% (2023 - 5.61%).

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $67,658 in April 
(principal & interest) and $19,280 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 
the year 2046 and annual interest payable is $38,560

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $124,884 in April 
(principal & interest) and $40,782 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 
the year 2044 and annual interest payable is $81,564

Debenture debt repayable to the MFA through semi annual payments of $40,267 in April 
(principal & interest) and $13,608 in October (interest only). The existing debenture matures in 
the year 2042 and annual interest payable is $27,216

Non-interest bearing grant repayable to Columbia Basin Trust through annual payments of 
$40,000 beginning in October 2026. The repayable grant matures in the year 2050 

Future minimum principal payments and actuarial additions on the equipment financing loans, long-term debt and temporary borrowing for 
the next five years and thereafter, including actuarial adjustments, are due as follows:
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8 Reserve Funds

2024 2023

Statutory reserves, note 9
Cemetery Maintenance Fund $ 449,270           $ 422,741           
Regional Infrastructure 603,850           512,800           
Property Tax Sale (3,612)              (3,613)              
Equipment Replacement 1,309,193        954,710           
Parkland Acquisition 389,721           426,442           
Cemetery Replacement Fund 14,146             18,906             
Community Works Fund 672,322           1,435,576        
Land Sale 388,069           210,107           

3,822,959        3,977,669        

Operating reserves, note 9
General fund 9,155,652        8,889,636        
Water fund 5,268,692        4,659,230        
Sewer fund 866,045           1,506,185        
Storm fund 2,246,927        1,864,182        
Airport fund 707,902           (29,205)            

18,245,218      16,890,028      

$ 22,068,177      $ 20,867,697      

9 Accumulated surplus

2024 2023

Equity in tangible capital assets $ 72,614,971      $ 70,008,385      
Statutory reserve funds, note 8 3,822,959        3,977,669        
Operating reserve funds, note 8 18,245,218      16,890,028      
Current funds (2,263,725)       (739,973)          

$ 92,419,423      $ 90,136,109      

Equity in tangible capital assets represents the net book value of total tangible capital assets, plus work in progress, less long term debt 
obligations assumed to acquire tangible capital assets and asset retirement obligations. 

Statutory reserves funds represent amounts that are restricted by the Community Charter and associated Municipal Bylaws. The funds are 
set aside for the specific purpose stipulated and can only be used for this purpose.

Operating reserves represent amounts that are set aside for anticipated future expenditures. The funds are not governed by bylaw and are 
not restricted.



CITY OF CASTLEGAR    46

CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

10 Taxation and Fees and Services Revenues

Taxation and fees and services revenues comprise the following amounts raised:

2024 2023
Collection for City purposes:

General $ 11,376,540 38% $ 10,613,075 38%
Parcel Tax 537,150 2% 537,979 2%
Grants in lieu of taxes 977,165 3% 932,653 3%

12,890,855 44% 12,083,707 44%

Waste disposal fees 970,742 3% 509,573 2%
Other fees and service charges 704,352 2% 837,627 3%
Water utility fees 2,352,333 8% 2,291,512 8%
Sewer utility fees 1,826,953 6% 1,719,459 6%
Airport fees 1,189,920 4% 1,018,904 4%

7,044,300 23% 6,377,075 23%

Total for City purposes $ 19,935,155 67% $ 18,460,782 67%

The City is required to collect taxes on behalf of and transfer to the following government agencies:

Province of BC - School taxes
Residential $ 2,770,661 9% $ 2,725,020 10%
Non-residential 2,409,620 8% 2,264,625 8%

5,180,281 17% 4,989,645 18%

Regional District of Central Kootenay 4,041,964 14% 3,650,938 13%
Regional Hospital Districts 452,676 2% 448,661 2%
B.C. Assessment Authority 161,947 1% 155,731 1%
Municipal Finance Authority 578 0% 559 0%

4,657,164 16% 4,255,889 15%

Total for Other Governments 9,837,445 33% 9,245,534 33%

Total Taxation $ 29,772,600 100% $ 27,706,316 100%

11 Development Cost Charges

The City collects development cost charges in accordance with the Local Government Act and the City's Development
Cost Charge Bylaw. These funds must be used for specific purposes as stipulated by the Local Government Act and the
Municipal Development Cost Charges Bylaw.

Total Road Water Sewer Drainage Open Space

Balance, beginning 
  of year $ 2,117,108         $ 1,110,488       $ 303,474           $ 614,407           $ 60,877             $ 27,862        

Interest earned 77,934              41,187            11,255             22,786             2,258               448             
Contributions 43,039              26,205            5,670               10,058             73                    1,033          
Expenditures (77,463)             (77,463)           -                       -                       -                       -                  

Balance, end
  of year $ 2,160,618         $ 1,100,417       $ 320,399           $ 647,251           $ 63,208             $ 29,343        
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12 Pension Liability

The City of Castlegar and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The board of trustees, 
representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of 
benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 
2023, the plan has about 256,000 active members and approximately 129,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 
45,000 contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary 
determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is 
based on the entry age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide 
benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be 
adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a $3,761 million funding surplus for 
basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025.
    
The City of Castlegar paid $545,045 (2023 - $473,879) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2024. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the fiscal year 
(defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in 
aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in 
the plan. 
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Note 13: Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets - As at December 31, 2024

Equipment / Other 
Furniture / Tangible 2024

Land Buildings Vehicles Water Sewer Roads Drainage Capital Assets Total
COST

Opening Balance 14,551,410$     18,598,762$     15,278,517$  32,716,070$   26,760,272$   45,699,501$     9,466,190$    7,031,276$        170,101,998$     
Add: Additions 102,000            134,530            1,373,105      617,958         1,749,960       6,923,611         245,481         1,809,764          12,956,409         
Less: Disposals 76,716              -                    166,869        -                 -                 -                   -                 -                     243,585              

Closing Balance 14,576,694       18,733,292       16,484,753    33,334,028     28,510,232     52,623,112       9,711,671      8,841,040          182,814,822       

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance -                    11,387,163       10,421,551    18,298,287     17,056,030     22,839,662       5,929,228      4,490,379          90,422,300         
Add:  Amortization -                    739,427            988,005        720,438         540,824         1,040,774         128,526         363,658             4,521,652           
Less:  Acc. Amortization on Disposals -                    -                    73,705          -                 -                 -                   -                 -                     73,705                

Closing Balance -                    12,126,590       11,335,851    19,018,725     17,596,854     23,880,436       6,057,754      4,854,037          94,870,247         

Net Book Value for year ended
14,576,694$     6,606,702$       5,148,902$    14,315,303$   10,913,378$   28,742,676$     3,653,917$    3,987,003$        87,944,575$       

Net Book Value year ended 
14,833,054$     7,576,987$       4,298,508$    15,336,048$   10,950,612$   23,464,397$     3,500,384$    3,206,991$        79,679,698$       

Engineering Structures

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023
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Note 13: Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets - As at December 31, 2023

Equipment / Other 
Furniture / Tangible 2023

Land Buildings Vehicles Water Sewer Roads Drainage Capital Assets Total
COST

Opening Balance 14,551,410$     18,420,668$     13,805,557$  32,200,827$   26,760,272$   45,646,481$     9,466,190$    7,031,276$        167,882,681$     
Add: Additions -                    297,730            1,549,417      670,085         -                 53,020              -                 -                     2,570,252           
Less: Disposals -                    119,636            76,457          154,842         -                 -                   -                 -                     350,935              

Closing Balance 14,551,410       18,598,762       15,278,517    32,716,070     26,760,272     45,699,501       9,466,190      7,031,276          170,101,998       

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance -                    10,922,327       9,584,764      17,555,012     16,398,397     21,910,637       5,816,816      4,164,666          86,352,619         
Add:  Amortization -                    578,813            913,244        898,117         657,633         929,025            112,412         325,713             4,414,957           
Less:  Acc. Amortization on Disposals -                    113,977            76,457          154,842         -                 -                   -                 -                     345,276              

Closing Balance -                    11,387,163       10,421,551    18,298,287     17,056,030     22,839,662       5,929,228      4,490,379          90,422,300         

Net Book Value for year ended
14,551,410$     7,211,599$       4,856,966$    14,417,783$   9,704,242$     22,859,839$     3,536,962$    2,540,897$        79,679,698$       

Net Book Value year ended 
14,551,410$     7,223,039$       4,220,793$    14,639,170$   10,362,143$   23,735,844$     3,649,374$    2,866,610$        81,530,062$       

Engineering Structures

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022
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14 Work in progress

2024 2023
Expected in-
service date

Airport Required Navigational Performance $ 895,047          $ 896,045          2025
Columbia Ave Phase III 269,336          267,404          2029
South Sewage Treatment Plant N. Train Reinstatement 201,694          44,328            2025
Airport Terminal Expansion 70,480            9,859              2027
Brandson Memorial Park Upgrades 62,892            -                      2025
Blueberry Fire System Upgrades 37,290            37,290            2026
Airport Groundside Entrance Improvement 36,696            -                      2028
North Sewer Lagoon Safety Fence 33,760            33,760            2025
2nd and 5th Avenue Storm Sewer 24,603            24,603            2025
2nd Ave Wall and Road Upgrade 20,921            20,921            2025
SCADA Upgrades 11,029            -                      2025
Airport Land Plan 10,007            10,007            2025
Schulte Crescent Storm Project 9,011              9,011              2025
Highland Booster 7,568              7,568              2025
Civic Works Washbay & Pipe Racks 6,173              6,173              2025
Carpenters' Bay Vacuum System 6,000              6,000              2025
South Sewage Treatment Plant Cover All Building 3,780              3,780              2025
Irrigation Upgrades 1,565              1,565              2025
Drainage Improvements 910                 910                 2025
Millennium Park & Ponds Upgrade Phase III -                      1,368,870       
Park Pumphouse MCC Upgrades -                      227,364          
Airport Apron Expansion -                      167,332          
Orchard Avenue Phase II -                      109,062          
Lift Station Kiosk -                      105,710          
Ventilation Upgrades -                      66,150            
Taxiway B Expansion -                      61,052            
Geotubes Construction -                      60,029            
North Lagoon UV Disinfection System -                      56,902            

$ 1,708,762       $ 3,601,695       

15 Expenses by Object

2024 2023

Salary, wages and taxable employee benefits $ 8,537,655       $ 7,400,631       
Materials, goods, utilities, services, contracts 12,453,983     11,750,424     
Accretion -                      56,892            
Amortization 4,521,652       4,414,957       
Interest on long term debt and agreements payable 604,981          530,077          

Total Expenses $ 26,118,271     $ 24,152,981     

Work in progress are tangible capital assets that are not being amortized because they are under construction. Work in 
progress will be included in the tangible capital asset inventory and amortized when the project is complete and operating at 
full capacity. The book values of work in progress and their expected in-service dates are as follows:
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16 Government Transfers

In 2024, the City received and recorded as revenue the following transfers:

2024 2023

Provincial Unconditional Transfers
Small Community Grant $ 493,100 $ 450,000
Climate Action Revenue Incentive Program 281,527 96,082
Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing Grant 71,000 62,000

845,627 608,082

Provincial Conditional Transfers
Airports Capital Assistance Program $ 1,660,069 $ -                      
Canada Community-Building Fund 90,781 9,859
Local Government Housing Initiative 67,952 -                      
FireSmart 47,374 -                      
UBCM - ADU Program 45,000 -                      
Indigenous Engagement Requirements Funding 40,000 -                      
Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 39,633 1,408,714
Canada Day Fund 4,000 -                      
Growing Communities Fund -                      3,094,000
2022 Strengthening Communities' Services -                      106,289
Strengthening Communities' Services -                      18,915
Housing Needs Report -                      10,834

1,994,809 4,648,611

Federal Conditional Transfers
Municipal Asset Management Program $ 11,880 $ 29,304
Airports Capital Assistance Program -                      167,333

11,880 196,637

Regional and Other External Conditional Transfers
Other Conditional Transfers $ 398,161 $ 381,639
Clean BC - Organic Infrastructure and Collection Program -                      895,833

398,161 1,277,472

Total Government Transfers $ 3,250,477       $ 6,730,802

17 Contracts and Commitments

a) West Kootenay Regional Airport

Year Amount

2025 $ 687,563
2026 583,962

c) Capital Projects

The City has purchase and service contracts related to current capital projects, valued at $251,012, plus taxes. 

In October 2021, the City of Castlegar and Dexterra Integrated Facilities Management entered into a five year agreement to 
operate and maintain the West Kootenay Regional Airport.

The terms of the contract require that Dexterra Integrated Facilities Management provide all labour, materials, 
superintendence and other services necessary to provide operations and maintenance services at the Airport. 

Minimum payments required under the contract with Dexterra Integrated Facilities Management are as follows:
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18 Segmented Information

General Government Services:

Protection Services:

Transportation and Civic Works:

Waste Disposal and Recycling:

Waste disposal and recycling consists of providing waste disposal services to citizens.

Public Health and Welfare:

Environmental Development Services:

Recreation and Cultural Services:

Water, Sewer and Storm:

Airport:

The municipality owns facilities which house The Castlegar and District Heritage Museum, The Kootenay Gallery of Arts, 
The Doukhobor Discovery Centre and The Castlegar and District Public Library. The City also provides funding to these 
organizations. The Recreation and Cultural Services also provides maintenance of City parks.

The City owns and operates the West Kootenay Regional Airport. Operation and maintenance of the Airport is contracted to 
a third party (note 17).

This item is related to the revenues and expenses that relate to the operations of the Municipality itself and cannot be 
directly attributed to specific segments.

Protection Services is comprised of police services, fire protection, municipal emergency programming, building inspection 
and animal control. The police services department is responsible for ensuring the safety of the lives and property of 
citizens, preserving the peace and good order, preventing crimes from occurring, detecting offenders, and enforcing the 
law. Police services are contracted, under a Municipal Police Service Agreement with the Province of British Columbia, to 
the Royal  Canadian Mounted Police. The Fire Department is responsible for providing fire suppression services, fire 
prevention programs, training and education. The members of the fire department consist of a Fire Chief, a Deputy Fire 
Chief and a number of volunteer fire fighters. Building  inspection ensures an acceptable quality of building construction and 
maintenance of properties through enforcement of construction codes, building standards, and by-laws for the protection of 
occupants.

The Department of Transportation and Civic Works is responsible for the delivery of municipal public works services 
relating to the development and maintenance of roadway systems, the maintenance and development of parks and open 
space, street lighting, and storm sewer systems.

The Environmental Development Services Department provides a diverse bundle of services such as city planning, urban 
development for business interests, environmental concerns, and downtown planning. It facilitates economic development 
by providing services for the approval of all land development plans, and the application and enforcement of zoning by-
laws. It processes building permits and business licenses, develops the City's geographic information systems and provides 
by-law enforcement services. 

The Water Service provides the City's drinking water.  The Sewer Service processes and cleans sewage.  The Storm 
Services provides storm water drainage.

Public Health and Welfare consists of the operation, maintenance, and development of a public cemetery and 
community health care initiatives.

The City of Castlegar is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of services to its citizens 
such as police, fire, water, sewer and roads maintenance. Distinguishable functional segments have been separately 
disclosed in the segmented information. The nature of the segments and the activities they encompass are as follows:
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Note 18: Schedule of Segment Disclosure - For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

 General 

Government 

Services 

 Protection 

Services 

 Transportation 

and Civic 

Works 

 Waste 

Disposal and 

Recycling 

 Public Health 

and Welfare 

 Environmental 

Development 

Services 

 Recreation and 

Cultural Services 

 Water, Sewer 

& Storm  Airport  2024 Total 

Taxation $ 2,857,794         $ 4,075,611      $ 3,903,488      $ -                    $ 109,868         $ 75,854                  $ 1,868,240         $ -                    $ -                    $ 12,890,855         

Government grants -                       611,475         43,580           -                    14,799           434,479                393,633            -                    1,752,511      3,250,477           

Community works funding 443,073            -                     -                    -                    -                     -                           -                       -                    -                    443,073              

Fees and charges 261,651            69,432           3,528             1,135,026     40,938           164,519                -                       4,179,286     1,189,920      7,044,300           

Other revenue 1,345,283         74,560           2,108,872      -                    14,190           -                           -                       -                    -                    3,542,905           

Interest, actuarial, other income 1,000,754         -                     -                    -                    -                     -                           -                       205,086        24,134           1,229,975           

5,908,555         4,831,078      6,059,468      1,135,026     179,795         674,852                2,261,873         4,384,374     2,966,565      28,401,585         

Salaries and benefits 2,423,275         1,436,360      1,828,479      32,975          127,218         405,838                682,809            1,418,485     182,215         8,537,655           

Goods and services 1,437,250         3,031,416      2,256,671      1,137,058     52,577           269,014                1,188,392         1,593,114     1,488,492      12,453,983         

Interest and other charges 51,903              213,865         339,212         -                    -                     -                           -                       -                    -                    604,981              

Accretion -                       -                     -                    -                    -                     -                           -                       -                    -                    -                          

Amortization 729,011            149,437         1,635,106      -                    -                     -                           390,672            1,389,788     227,638         4,521,652           

4,641,439         4,831,078      6,059,468      1,170,033     179,795         674,852                2,261,873         4,401,387     1,898,345      26,118,271         

  Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 1,267,115         $ -                     $ -                    $ (35,007)         $ -                     $ -                           $ -                       $ (17,013)         $ 1,068,220      $ 2,283,314           
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19 Budget

The Financial Plan (Budget) By-Law adopted by Council on February 20, 2024 was not prepared on a basis consistent with
that used to report actual results (Public Sector Accounting Standards). The budget was prepared on a modified accrual
basis while Public Sector Accounting Standards now require a full accrual basis. The budget figures anticipated use of 
surpluses accumulated in previous years to reduce current year expenditures in excess of current year revenues to $nil.
In addition, the budget expensed all tangible capital expenditures rather than including amortization expense. As a result
the budget figures presented in the statements of operations and change in net financial assets (debt) represent the
Financial Plan adopted by Council on February 20, 2024 with adjustments as follows:

2024

Financial Plan (budget) Bylaw surplus for the year $ -                     

Budgeted Transfers (2,437,311)     
Amortization (3,862,000)     
Debt Proceeds (7,482,171)     
Capital expenditures 19,090,042    
Internal Recharges (776,300)        

Budgeted surplus per statement of operations $ 4,532,260      

20 Contractual Rights

The City has leased multiple properties to third parties with the following terms:

Lease Expiry Date

$ 477,243         
44,396           
39,440           
38,244           
12,968           

Minimum Annual Lease Payment

February 28, 2025
April 1, 2054
July 31, 2025

November 30, 2027
June 30, 2027
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21 Asset Retirement Obligations

2024 2023

Opening balance $ 1,321,156      $ -                     
Initial recognition of expected discounted cash flows -                     1,264,264      
Adjustment to present value (accretion) -                     56,892           

Asset Retirement Obligations, closing balance $ 1,321,156      $ 1,321,156      

2025 - 2030 $ 1,023,495      
2031 - 2040 459,705         
2041 and beyond 282,520         

Asset Retirement Obligations, undiscounted $ 1,765,720      

22 Financial Instruments

a) Credit Risk

2024 2023

Due from other governments (current) $ 255,791 $ 159,002
666,303 837,593

Other receivables (current) 6,112,660 3,834,816

Total $ 7,034,754 $ 4,831,411

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the City if a debtor fails to discharge their obligation (e.g., pay the accounts 
receivable owing to the City). The City is exposed to this risk arising from its cash, investments, grants receivable and 
accounts receivable. The City holds its cash accounts with a federally regulated chartered bank who is insured by the 
Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation. In the event of default, the City’s cash accounts are insured up to $100,000 
(2023 - $100,000).

Accounts receivable is primarily due from government, corporations and individuals. The City mitigates credit risk by 
regular submission of reporting requirements for grant installments to be paid within six months to a year of the grant 
approval. Property tax receivable risk is mitigated by regular notification to the residents of outstanding amounts and 
ultimately tax sale for recovery, if necessary. If an accounts receivable is held for a long period of time, an impairment 
allowance is setup to offset the receivable. There were no changes in exposures to credit risk during the period. The 
amounts outstanding at year end were as follows:

Legal liabilities exist for the removal and disposal of asbestos and other environmentally hazardous materials within 
some City owned buildings that will undergo major renovations or demolition in the future. The obligation has been 
measured at a discount rate of 4.45% (2023 - 4.50%), MFA's long term lending rate. These costs have been capitalized 
as part of the assets’ carrying value and are amortized over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Taxes receivable (current)

The liability is estimated using a present value technique that discount the expected future expenditures. The discount 
rate used was based on the average Municipal Finance Authority's long term borrowing rate of 4.45% (2023 - 4.50%). 
The total undiscounted expenditures and the time period over which they are expected to be incurred is as follows:
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Financial Instruments (continued)

b) Liquidity Risk

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Accounts payable $ 4,309,792 $ -                     $ -                       $ 348,494 $ 4,658,286
Debt 570,640 6,831,582 1,319,882 6,995,106 15,717,210

Total $ 4,880,432 $ 6,831,582 $ 1,319,882 $ 7,343,600 $ 20,375,496    

c) Market risk

d) Currency risk

e) Interest rate risk

f) Other price risk

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss caused by fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows of financial 
instruments because of changes in market interest rates. The City is exposed to this risk through its interest-bearing 
investments and debt. There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or 
policies, procedures and methods used to measure the risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the City will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due. The City 
mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected outflows through extensive budgeting and maintaining 
investments that may be converted to cash in the near-term if unexpected cash outflows arise. The following table sets 
out the expected maturities, representing undiscounted cash-flows of its financial liabilities:

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, procedures and 
methods used to measure the risk.

During the year, the City became exposed to currency risk when it entered into transactions in United States Dollar 
(USD). Management monitors exchange rates and the markets and may make use of derivative contracts if it expects 
the exchange rates to fluctuate significantly.  

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial statement will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk). The City is not exposed to 
other price risk as the City does not have any investments or equity instruments. 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The City 
operates within the constraints of the investment guidelines in section 183 of the Community Charter, which puts limits 
on the types of investments the City may invest in. The Section permits the City's funds to be invested in securities of 
the Municipal Finance Authority; specified pool investments; securities issued by the Government of Canada, a 
Canadian province, municipality, or regional district; improvements guaranteed by a chartered bank; and deposits in 
savings institutions or non-equity membership shares of a credit union.
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

23 Change in Accounting Policy

Effective January 1, 2024, the City adopted new Public Sector Accounting Standards PS 3400 Revenue. This section 
establishes standards on how to account for and report on revenue. The standard was applied prospectively and had no 
impact on the comparative figures.
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR Schedule 1

Reserve Fund Balance Sheets
 Unaudited 

As at December 31, 2024

 Regional Infrastructure  Community Works Fund  Equipment Replacement  Parkland Acquisition  Land Sales 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ASSETS

Cash and deposits $ 537,619          $ 478,708       $ -                     $ -                  $ 995,084       $ 748,809       $ 447,714       $ 413,558       $ 329,410    $ 170,428       $

Due from other funds 66,231            34,092         672,321          1,435,575    314,109       205,901       (57,993)       12,884         58,658      39,679         

603,850          512,800       672,321          1,435,575    1,309,193    954,710       389,721       426,442       388,069    210,107       

Fund Balances

Balance, beginning of year 512,800          426,334       1,435,575       1,391,169    954,710       1,049,199    426,442       392,841       210,107    (48,396)       

Contributions 50,000            50,000         443,073          429,851       947,066       337,300       -                  -                  291,642    252,437       

Interest on investments 41,050            36,466         114,918          118,993       40,373         37,797         34,137         33,601         11,204      6,066           

Sale of Assets -                     -                  -                     -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -               -                  

Transfers to operating funds -                     -                  -                     -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -               -                  

Transfers to capital funds -                     -                  (1,321,245)      (504,438)     (632,956)     (469,586)     (70,858)       -                  (124,884)   -                  

Balance, end of year 603,850$        512,800$     672,321$        1,435,575$  1,309,193$  954,710$     389,721$     426,442$     388,069$  210,107$     

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR
Reserve Fund Balance Sheets

 Unaudited 

As at December 31, 2024

ASSETS

Cash and deposits

Due from other funds

Fund Balances

Balance, beginning of year

Contributions

Interest on investments

Sale of Assets

Transfers to operating funds

Transfers to capital funds

Balance, end of year

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Schedule 1 (continued)

 Property Tax Sale  Cemetery Maintenance  Cemetery Replacement  Total 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

25                $ 24              $ 442,923       $ 388,045       $ 19,107      $ 178           $ 2,771,883    $ 2,199,750    

(3,637)         (3,637)        6,348           34,696         (4,960)       18,728      1,051,077    1,777,919    

(3,612)         (3,613)        449,271       422,741       14,146      18,906      3,822,960    3,977,669    

(3,613)         (3,614)        422,741       396,211       18,906      12,252      3,977,668    3,615,996    

-                  -                 -                  -                  -               -                1,731,781    1,069,588    

1                 1                19,585         19,585         200           8               261,468       252,517       

-                  -                 6,945           6,945           7,245        6,965        14,190         13,910         
-                  

-                  -                 -                  -                  -               -                -                  -                  

-                  -                 -                  -                  (12,205)     (319)          (2,162,148)   (974,343)     

(3,612)$       (3,613)$      449,271$     422,741$     14,146$    18,906$    3,822,959$  3,977,668$  
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR Schedule 2

Growing Communities Fund Grant

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Actual 2024 Actual 2023

Opening Balance $ 3,219,875       $ -                     

Grant funding received -                     3,094,000       

Interest earned 163,785          125,875          

Airport Required Navigational Performance License (206,441)        -                     

South Sewage Treatment Plant Geotube System (616,385)        -                     

Closing Balance $ 2,560,835       $ 3,219,875       
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CITY OF CASTLEGAR Schedule 3

Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Actual 2024 Actual 2023

Opening Balance $ -                     $ -                     

Grant funding received 189,154          -                     

Zoning Bylaw (59,252)          -                     

Parking Regulatory Review (8,700)            -                     

Closing Balance (deferred revenue) $ 121,202          $ -                     
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Castlegar City Hall 
460 Columbia Avenue 
Castlegar, BC  V1N 1G7

250 365 7227 
info@castlegar.ca 
castlegar.ca



 

Regular Meeting Minutes of Council September 2, 2025 
 

Regular Meeting Minutes of the City of Castlegar Council held by Zoom live meeting and available to the 
public for live streaming in Council Chambers at the Community Forum, 445 13th Avenue, Castlegar, B.C., 

commenced at 3:00 p.m. for Committee of the Whole, immediately followed by a Closed 
Meeting of Council and reconvened at 7:00 p.m. for Regular Council proceedings. 

 
Members Mayor Maria McFaddin 
Present Councillor Darcy Bell 
 Councillor Sandy Bojechko – Via Zoom 
 Councillor Shirley Falstead 
 
Absent Councillor Sue Heaton-Sherstobitoff 
 Councillor Cherryl MacLeod 
 Councillor Brian Bogle 
 
Staff Chris Barlow, Chief Administrative Officer 
Present Bree Seabrook, Director of Corporate Services 
 Steffan Klassen, Director of Finance & Technology 
 Chris Hallam, Director of Municipal Services 
 Nick Ahlefeld, Acting Fire Chief 
 David Bristow, IT Manager 
 Jennifer Chamberlain, Executive Assistant  
 Meeri Durand, Acting Director of Community Safety & Development 
 Alexandra Hadfield, Manager of Human Resources 
 Deanna Hooper, Acting Operations Manager 
 Monty Taylor, RCMP Sergeant 
 Nikki Zimmerman, Office Assistant 
 

 
Other Public and Media 
 

1 CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor McFaddin called the meeting to order at 3:02 p.m. 
 

2 ADOPTION OF AGENDA: 
 
R177-25 Moved and seconded, and 
 RESOLVED: 
 

THAT the agenda for the Regular Council Meeting of September 2, 2025 be adopted. 
 
 CARRIED. 
 

3 RESOLUTION TO RESOLVE INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 
 
R178-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED: THAT Council now resolve itself into Committee of the Whole. 
 
  CARRIED. 

 
4 DELEGATION:   

(a) Stephen Hill, on behalf of Grandview Park & Playground Association, provided Council with 
a presentation about the park and playground plan for Grandview. Highlights of the 
discussion include: 
• Thank you to the staff at the City. 
• Park and Playground options.  
• Millennium Park is lovely, but a bit far away for the families.  
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• Discussion surrounding property options and private property owners.   
• Petitioned the community.  
• Letter of support from 47 members in the Strata Council.  
 

• Donations from Marwest to do the landscaping.  
• Three park benches in Grandview, but none in the shade.  
 

• Castlegar Rotary is interested in participating in the project.  
• Possibilities to link Grandview to Emerald Green.  
• Change in name from the Grandview Park & Playground Association to the  
         Grandview and Emerald Green Park & Playground Association.  
• Looking for support for their park project.  
• Grandview was originally a senior’s subdivision.  
• Next steps: put everything in writing outlining all the pieces including requests from  
         the City, commitments, financial contributions, and specifics such as what kind of   
         playground they are looking for.  

 
(b) Herb Alex, on behalf of Sinixt Confederacy, provided Council with an update on the 

Chinook Study. Highlights of the discussion include:  
• Herb is the Senior Policy Advisor for the Sinixt Confederacy in Nelson, BC.   
• The Chinook reintroduction study started two years ago.  
• Columbia River starts in Canal Flats and goes down to Long Beach.   
• Fish passages at dams.   
• Moving the Chinook up to Northport Washington, as there is no fish barrier at the 

US/Canada border.  
• Chinook are a keystone ecological indicator and provide a lot of nutrients.  
• Chinook are culturally and spiritually important to all First Nations in the area.  
• 259 adult fish were introduced last year; approximately 80% came up.  
• This year, 800 were put in at Northport.  
• 4,000 have been put in at the blocked area above the Grand Coulee Dam. 

Expectation is 80% will come up.  
• Last year the Chinook were acoustically tagged and monitored. This year they were 

spaghetti tagged.  
• Truck and transport methods.  
• Working on monitoring and evaluation this year.  
• Angler notifications have gone out.  
• Adult fish can’t get past the barriers at the dams, but the little ones can.   
• Stephen is the contact person if people encounter Chinook.  

 
5 COMMUNITY WELLNESS, SAFETY & DEVELOPMENT (Councillor Bell, Chair) 

 
(a) COUNCIL COMMITTEE LIAISON VERBAL UDPATE  

•    Nil.  
 

(b) FIRE DEPARTMENT VERBAL UDPATE 
•  Call volume 695 this year compared to 592 last year.  
•  Castlegar Fire Department has responded to three industrial fires in the last month.  
•  10 calls yesterday.  
•  Assisted the RDCK Fire Departments with the Verigin’s Tomb fire. 
•  Two Assistant Fire Chiefs have started.  

 
(c) Emergency Services Monthly Report – July 2025 

COW074-25   RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve to receive for information: 
• Emergency Services Monthly Report – July 2025 
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  CARRIED.  
 

(d) RCMP DETACHMENT VERBAL UPDATE  
• 15 of 16 officers in the Kootenay Boundary Regional Detachment.  
• One position that was frozen has re-opened.  
• Waiting for security clearance for the RCMP Court Liaison Clerk position.  
• With school back in, RCMP will be patrolling the school zones more.  

 
(e) WEST KOOTENAY REGIONAL AIRPORT VERBAL UPDATE 

• No cancellations since the last Council Meeting.  
 

(f) COMMUNITY SAFETY AND DEVELOPMENT VERBAL UPDATE.  
• Nil.  

 
(g) Building Permit and Business Licence Reports – July 2025 

 
COW075-25      RECOMMENDATION: Council consider and resolve to receive for information:  

• Building Permit Report – July 2025 
• Business Licence Report – July 2025 

 
   CARRIED.  
  

6 CULTURAL & CIVIC PRIDE (Mayor McFaddin, Deputy Chair) 
  

(a) COUNCIL COMMITTEE LIAISON VERBAL UPDATE 
• Nil. 

 
7 FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES (Councillor Falstead, Deputy Chair) 

 
(a) Finance and Corporate Services Community Liaison Verbal Update 

• Nil. 
 

(b) Corporate Services Verbal Update  
• Recruitment updates. 
• New Accountant, Ryan Reid started last Monday.  
• Climate Readiness Coordinator position will be re-posted.  
• Review of current postings and re-postings.  
• Review of closed postings.  

 
(c)  Finance Department Verbal Update  

• New Accountant started.   
• Working on financial projects.  

 

(d) January - June 2025 Supplier List (Report No. 25-65) 
 
Report from the Director of Finance to present Council with the January – June 2025 
Supplier List.  
 

COW076-25         Moved, and 
        RECOMMENDED:  
 
     THAT the January – June 2025 Supplier List be received for information.  
 
     CARRIED.  
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(e)  IT Department Verbal Update 
• Committee of the Whole had 51 views and Regular had 27 views. 
• 23 projects ongoing.   
• August 18 and 19 Sarah, Customer Success Manager from Sea to Sky came  
 to the City to review the staff and organizational needs.  
• Attending a conference next week.  

 
8 MUNICIPAL SERVICES (Councillor Bell, Deputy Chair) 

 
(a)  Municipal Services Department Verbal Update  

• Civic Works – Summer students and weekend staff are finished.   
• Parks – preparing to close the ponds.  
• Plans to pick up a chipper to manage alleys and roadways with tree trimming.  
• Preparing for leaf pick up and fall operations.  
• Roads – applying for permits to run heavy equipment for winter operations, and  

       ditch grading on Arrow Lakes Drive.  
• Utilities – repairs at the lagoon with the aeration system.  
• Working to repair water leaks and install new services around the City.  
• Fleet – continued work with the fire department to help meet their regulations and  
 services requirements.  

 
9 QUESTION PERIOD: Nil.  

 
10 RESOLUTION TO RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 

 
R179-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED: THAT Council rise from Committee of the Whole. 
 
  CARRIED. 
 

11 RESOLUTION TO RECESS THE PUBLIC MEETING UNTIL 7:00 P.M. 
 
R180-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED:  
 
  THAT pursuant to Section 90 of the Community Charter, the public be excluded from this 

portion of the meeting as the subject matter being considered relates to the following: 
 

• Community Charter Section 90(1)(L) 
Discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting municipal objectives, 
measures and progress reports for the purposes of preparing an annual report under 
section 98 [annual municipal report]. 

 
  AND FURTHER; 
 
  THAT the public portion of the meeting be recessed until 7:00 p.m., 
 
  AND FURTHER; 
 
  THAT Council immediately resolve into the closed portion of their meeting. 
 
  CARRIED. 
   
  The meeting recessed at 3:50p.m. 
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12 RECONVENE: Mayor McFaddin reconvened the meeting at 7:02 p.m. 
 
Members Mayor Maria McFaddin 
Present Councillor Darcy Bell 
 Councillor Sandy Bojechko – Via Zoom.  
 Councillor Shirley Falstead 
 
Absent Councillor Sue Heaton-Sherstobitoff 
 Councillor Cherryl MacLeod 
 Councillor Brian Bogle 
 
Staff Chris Barlow, Chief Administrative Officer 
Present Bree Seabrook, Director of Corporate Services 
 Steffan Klassen, Director of Finance & Technology 
 Chris Hallam, Director of Municipal Services 
 Meeri Durand, Acting Director of Community Safety & Development 
 David Bristow, IT Manager 
 Jennifer Chamberlain, Executive Assistant 
 
Other Public and Media 
 

13 DELEGATION:  Grant Thornton Auditors to Present the City of Castlegar 2024 Audited Financial 
Statements. Highlights of the discussion include: 
• Financial position for City of Castlegar and its results of operations, net financial assets 

and cash flows are in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
• Schedules 1-3 have not been audited and are not a critical part to the Financial 

Statements. 
 

14 FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES: 
 

(a) 2024 Audited Financial Statements (Report No. 25-66) 
 

Report from the Director of Finance to provide Council with the key findings and results 
of the audit of the City’s 2024 Financial Statements and to obtain approval of the 2024 
Audited Financial Statements. 

 
R181-25               Moved, and seconded and  
               RESOLVED:  

 
THAT Council approve the 2024 Audited Financial Statements as presented in 
Attachment “A” of Report 25-66.  
 
CARRIED.  

 
15 COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES FOR APPROVAL: 

 
R182-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED:  
 
  THAT the following Minutes be adopted as presented: 

• Regular Meeting Minutes – August 11, 2025 
 
  CARRIED. 
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16 RESOLUTION TO ADOPT RECOMMENDATIONS OF COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 
 

The following resolutions were recommended at the August 11, 2025, Committee of the Whole 
Meeting and are presented for consideration of adoption by Council:  

 
R183-25 Moved and seconded, and 
 RESOLVED:  
 

THAT Council receive for information Report #25-62 titled “2025 Council Strategic Plan 
Implementation Report - Quarter 2 Update”,  

 
 AND FURTHER;  
 

THAT Council direct staff to prepare an amendment to the 2025-2029 Five-Year Financial Plan 
to reflect the deferral of projects identified in Report #25-62.  

 
 CARRIED. 
 
 

17 REGIONAL DISTRICT OF CENTRAL KOOTENAY (RDCK) MEETING MINUTES:  
 
R184-25 Moved, and seconded and 
 RESOLVED:  
 
 THAT the following minutes be received for information:  

•  Regular Board Meeting Minutes – July 17, 2025 

CARRIED.  
 

18 CORRESPONDENCE: 
 
R185-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED: 
 
  THAT Council approve the request from Fatima Ali, on behalf of Mito Canada to change the 

Kinnaird Overpass lights to green on September 20, 2025 in recognition of World Mitochondrial 
Disease Week,  

 
  AND FURTHER; 
 
  THAT Council approve the request from James Brotherhood on behalf of PacificSport 

Columbia Basin to change the Kinnaird Overpass lights to red the week of September 15-21, 
2025 in recognition of National Coaches Week, with the exception of September 20, 2025.  

 
  CARRIED. 
 
R186-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED: 
 
  THAT Council provide a letter of support to the Castlegar Queen Committee in support of their 

attendance at the Oliver Youth Ambassador Pageant on September 19, 2025.  
 
  CARRIED. 
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19 REPORTS OTHER:  
 

(a)  Recreation Commission Member Verbal Update  
• Bylaws for Rec Centre brought forward for review and prepare for a new Bylaw for a 

new build for recreational. 
• Recommendation approved for grant funding. 

 
20 MAYOR’S REPORT:  

• The Kootenay Gallery of Arts Community Engagement attendance. 
• Disc Golf public engagement. 

 
21 NEW & UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  Nil 

 
22 BYLAWS FOR CONSIDERATION: Nil 

   
23 NEXT MEETING(S): 

  September 15, 2025 at 3:00 p.m. for Committee of the Whole Meeting followed by the Regular 
Council Meeting at 7:00 p.m. via Zoom live meeting and available to the public for live 
streaming in Council Chambers at the Community Forum, 445 13th Avenue, Castlegar, B.C. 

 
24 NOTICE OF MOTION:  Nil 

 
25 QUESTION PERIOD:  Nil 

 
26 ADJOURNMENT: 

 
R187-25  Moved and seconded, and 
  RESOLVED: THAT the Regular meeting be adjourned. 
 
  CARRIED. 
 
  The Regular Meeting was adjourned at 7:12 p.m. 
 
 
CERTIFIED CORRECT: 
 
 
 
    
Bree Seabrook Maria McFaddin 
Director of Corporate Services Mayor 
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Subject: Request: Light up Green - October 6, 2025
Date: September 5, 2025 3:48:42 PM
Attachments: image.png

CPABC 2025.pdf
CPABC Info.png

Good afternoon Nikki,

We are hoping it is not too late for this request. On behalf of the Cerebral Palsy
Association of British Columbia, I would like to kindly request that the Bridge / Kinnaird
overpass be illuminated in green for World Cerebral Palsy Day on October 6, 2025. The
color green symbolizes the growth and vitality of the cerebral palsy community, and
lighting up landmarks helps raise awareness of this important cause.

This year, we aim to expand our efforts across British Columbia by encouraging more
locations to join in this global movement. By lighting up in green, Vancouver can stand
alongside cities around the world in educating the public about cerebral palsy and
showing support for the 17 million individuals living with it globally.

The Cerebral Palsy Association of British Columbia continues to provide vital services
and support to over 10,000 people living with cerebral palsy in our province. We have a
long history of advocacy and awareness initiatives, including Vancouver City Hall being
illuminated in green in 2015 following an official proclamation by Deputy Mayor Andrea
Reimer.

We would be deeply grateful if Bridge / Kinnaird overpass could be part of this year's
World CP Day. If there is anything I can assist with to make this possible, please do not
hesitate to let me know.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,

Arijana

 
https://www.gofundme.com/f/tmcawy-be-the-difference/

This email and any attachments are confidential and intended solely for the use of the



individual  to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please
notify the sender immediately and delete it from your system. Any unauthorized use or
disclosure is strictly prohibited.



 
 

 
 

World CP Day – Light it up Green 
 

About Cerebral Palsy 
Cerebral palsy is the most common childhood physical disability (affecting an average of one in 
every 500 people). There are around 10,000 people living with CP in BC, as well as their family 
members who devote their lives to the care of their loved ones, and the many doctors and 
therapists involved in the diagnosis and treatment of CP. 

 
Cerebral Palsy Association of BC 

The Cerebral Palsy Association of British Columbia was started in 1954 by a group of parents who 
wanted to assist their children living with cerebral palsy to reach their maximum potential within 
society. Today, we are an independent charitable organization governed by a volunteer Board of 
Directors. We provide support, education, and information throughout BC. 

 
Our mission is: 

 To raise awareness of cerebral palsy in the community; 
 To assist those living with cerebral palsy to reach their maximum potential; and 
 To work to see those living with cerebral palsy realize their place as equals in a diverse 

society. 
 

World CP Day 
World Cerebral Palsy Day is a movement of people with cerebral palsy and their families, and the 
organizations that support them, in more than 50 countries. 
More than just an awareness day, World CP Day is an opportunity to: 

1. Celebrate and express pride in the lives and achievements of those with CP and the people 
and the organizations that support them 

2. Create a powerful voice for those with CP to change their world 
3. Connect organizations across the globe so they are better equipped to meet the needs of 

those with CP 
4. Create new solutions to everyday problems 
5. Act as a catalyst for social change and education campaigns that create solutions to 

universal challenges 
6. Produce tangible, actions and outcomes that measurably improve the lives of those with CP 
7. Raise awareness of CP and the issues that affect people with CP at a local, national and 

international level to create more inclusive societies. 
 

Our vision is to ensure that children and adults with cerebral palsy have the same rights, access and 
opportunities as anyone else in our society. From Nigeria to the Netherlands, Ireland to Indonesia, 
Pakistan to Poland, people with CP and their families have powerful stories to tell. These stories of 
challenge and success are the foundation of our community and global movement for change. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

330 – 409 Granville Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 1T2 | T 604.408.9484 | info@bccerebralpalsy.com | www.bccerebralpalsy.com 

Charitable Registration BN 10690 4204 RR0001 
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